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PERFORMANCE REPORT 
 
In our performance overview, we have shown some examples of projects we have 
delivered. This section includes a statement from the Clinical Chair and the Chief Officer, 
information about our CCG including our vision, and the areas we have focused on in 
2016/17. 

Performance Overview 
Statement from the Chair and Chief Officer 
 
Welcome to NHS South Tyneside Clinical Commissioning Group’s (CCG) 2016/17 annual 
report. 
 
As a clinically-led membership organisation made up of 24 general practices working 
alongside a range of other healthcare professionals, we commission a wide range of NHS 
services for a local population of around 156,000 people.  
 
Throughout the year, we have been tackling some of the borough’s key health challenges, 
such as cardiovascular disease, respiratory disease and cancer, as well as implementing 
new and innovative ways of working across the South Tyneside health and care system 
and more widely. 
 
This year has seen the South Tyneside system working even more closely together to 
ensure that we develop ways of commissioning and delivering services which are more 
joined up between the NHS and social care, to deliver better services to our people.    We 
have based our local “Alliancing” approach on international best practice, working closely 
with our integration pioneer partners from the New Zealand Canterbury Health System, 
which is internationally renowned in the field of integration of health and care. 
 
Closer to home, we have also developed much closer working relationships with our 
colleagues in Sunderland maximising opportunities to work at scale, where it makes sense 
to do so, whilst also retaining an important local focus.  
 
Key to our work across Sunderland and South Tyneside has been the Path to Excellence 
programme, a five-year transformation of healthcare provision across South Tyneside and 
Sunderland.  Recognising the urgent need to change the way we deliver clinical services, 
this programme sets out our approach to securing the future of local NHS services, 
identifying new and innovative ways of delivering high quality, joined up, sustainable care 
that will benefit our population both now and in the future. 
 
In partnership with South Tyneside Council, South Tyneside Foundation Trust, the third 
sector and other key stakeholders, we have continued to make progress in implementing 
an integrated approach to delivering health and social care, with smaller, neighbourhood 
teams enabling closer joint working between primary care, district nurses, community 
matrons, social workers and occupational therapists, and this work to further develop our 
“Community Model” will continue into 2017/18. 
 
Additionally, as part of our work with New Zealand colleagues, the CCG has become the 
first place outside of Australasia to implement Health Pathways, which is an innovative on-
line toolkit used by GPs and other professionals. It enables the development and 
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documentation of locally-agreed pathways, ensuring standardised ways of working 
between local GPs, other professionals and the hospital, streamlining patient pathways, 
ensuring signposting into other local services such as the third sector, and ensuring best 
practice care. 
 
The first full year of Think Pharmacy First has proved a success with over 25,000 people 
using the service during its first 15 months. This scheme provides free consultations with a 
trained community pharmacist, with medicines provided free over the counter if 
appropriate, to those who are exempt from prescription charges, such as children or 
people on low incomes.  This scheme is designed with “right care, right place, right time” in 
mind, so that people with minor ailments no longer need to be seen by a GP. 
 
In addition, we continue to work in partnership with South Tyneside Council to support ‘A 
Better U’ self-care programme which - delivered via our frontline professionals - helps 
residents to take more control over their health to live longer, healthier and more fulfilling 
lives.  
 
Regionally, we have also worked with neighbours across Northumberland Tyne and Wear, 
including the urgent and emergency care vanguard and the transformation programme for 
people with learning disabilities. We have been closely involved in the development of the 
Sustainability and Transformation Plan and will be delivering key elements of this as part 
of our local plans going forward. 
 
Our stakeholders and patients continue to play a vital role in helping us to develop 
services suitable for South Tyneside. Patient stories and patient fora such as the CCG 
patient reference group continue to provide a valuable insight into the borough’s services. 
We would like to take this opportunity to express our thanks to all of our partners, 
stakeholders and members of the public and we look forward to working with you all again 
in 2017/18.  

                                                                     
 
 
 
Dr Matthew Walmsley       Dr David Hambleton 
GP Chair        Accountable Officer 
         (Chief Executive) 
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About NHS South Tyneside Clinical Commissioning Group 
 
South Tyneside CCG represents 24 GP practices, serving a population of around 156,000 
people. Led by doctors, nurses and other health professionals working alongside 
experienced healthcare managers, we are responsible for planning and commissioning 
(buying) of local healthcare services. This includes commissioning: 
 

• Planned hospital care  
• Urgent and emergency care  
• Rehabilitation care  
• Community health services  
• Mental health and learning disability services 

 
Clinical leadership 
 
The CCG’s Clinical Chair is Dr Matthew Walmsley, who chairs the Council of Practices 
and the Governing Body. The CCG Council of Practices comprises a GP Nominated Lead 
from each of the 24 member practices, giving the CCG a strong mandate from clinical 
leaders.  
 
Overview of South Tyneside 
 
South Tyneside has a population of around 156,000. Census projections predict that the 
mix of population by age is likely to change considerably over the coming years, with 
projections predicting that the population of working age adults will fall by 1%. It is 
predicted that the number of people over 65 will rise by 20%, from 27,000 to 32,000, by 
2021. Over the same period it is predicted the number of people over 85 will increase by 
40%, from 3,600 to 5,000. 
 
Older people use health and social care services more intensively than other population 
groups, so the projected increase in the number of older people in South Tyneside has 
important implications for the planning of health and social care services. The ability to 
meet and respond to the needs of a population that is living longer, with increasingly 
complex needs, is a significant test for the health and social care economy. This challenge 
is compounded by the financial limitations faced by commissioners. 
 
These challenges mean the CCG needs to review and adapt the way in which health and 
social care services are commissioned and delivered, in order to ensure that we can 
continue meeting the needs of people in South Tyneside. 

Our vision   
 
Our vision is to work collaboratively across South Tyneside to improve health and 
commission excellent health care and is supported by three high level goals which 
describe the changes we aim to make. These include: 
 

• Integrate health and social care services 
• Improve patient experience 
• Make the best use of resources 
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We have used a structured process to agree the following values which we will apply to all 
our commissioning decision making within South Tyneside; these also include the values 
set out in the NHS Constitution. 

 
 
To underpin this we’ve also set out strategic objectives which include: 
 
• Seamless planned care pathways, integrated within and across organisations 
• Streamlined urgent care services with a single point of access 
• Partnership delivery of personalised care and independent living for patients with long 

term conditions 
• Personalised care plans in mental health based on a stepped care approach with 

timely access to services 
• Improve the quality of prescribing and deliver agreed efficiencies 

Our partners 
 
The CCG works with a range of partners, including: 
 

• South Tyneside Health and Wellbeing Board 
• South Tyneside Council – in particular working with adult social care, housing and 

public health and other committees in the council, including Overview and Scrutiny 
and People Select Committees, as well as special commissions 

• NHS providers of healthcare – NHS South Tyneside Foundation Trust, 
Northumberland, Tyne and Wear Mental Health NHS Foundation Trust, North East 
Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust 

• Other providers of NHS healthcare – independent sector, community and voluntary 
sector 

• NHS England 
• South Tyneside Healthwatch 
• Neighbouring CCGs 
• The community and voluntary sector 
• Local MPs 
• Local schools 
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Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
The CCG is a key member of the local Health and Wellbeing Board, which has statutory 
duties and powers to encourage integrated work of both commissioners and providers to 
improve the health and wellbeing of the local population, reduce inequalities, and improve 
the quality and experience of services for the local population. 
 
The CCG is represented on the board by Dr Matthew Walmsley, the Clinical CCG Chair 
(and also Vice Chair of the Health and Wellbeing Board), and Dr David Hambleton, the 
CCG Chief Executive. 
   
The Health and Wellbeing Strategy focuses on four key areas: 
 

• Reducing inequalities through prevention and early identification of risk 

• Tackling youth unemployment 

• Reducing social isolation in older people 

• Improving the quality, integration and efficiency of local services 

 
In particular, the CCG has worked across the partnership around the Health and Wellbeing 
Board priority area relating to ‘integration’. Our role in system-wide transformational 
change in the development of new ways of working in South Tyneside in particular our 
new “Alliancing” arrangements which create a collective, system wide leadership vehicle 
for transformational change. This is a testament to our commitment to this key health and 
wellbeing goal.  Additional information on this innovative service development is included 
further within this report.  

 
8 

 



 
From a health inequalities perspective, some of the challenges faced by the Health and 
Wellbeing Board are illustrated above. In response, the CCG’s priority programme areas 
for 2016/17 included cancer, cardiovascular disease, end of life care, mental health and 
respiratory conditions.  Our progress against this is set out later on in this report. 
 
The Health and Wellbeing Board has reviewed the CCG’s contribution to the Board: 
 
“The CCG, linking with key HWB members, consistently reviews its inputs and 
contributions to the HWB to ensure these remain relevant and appropriate.  Members of 
the HWB Board are satisfied with the progress which the board is making and its general 
direction, including the CCG’s contribution to its business and positive health and 
wellbeing outcomes in South Tyneside.” 
 

Quality and Safety 
 
The CCG has a clear mechanism in place to discharge its duty under Section 14R of the 
NHS Act 2006 (as amended) to improve the quality of services, as described in section 
5.2.4 of the CCG Constitution.  Responsibility for the oversight of quality has been 
delegated to the CCG Quality and Patient Safety Committee. This is a committee of the 
Governing Body; more information about the work of the committee is given in the 
Governance Statement.  National ratings are available at My NHS www.nhs.uk/mynhs 

Our Quality Strategy (2014-2017) was developed to support the CCG to keep quality at the 
heart of all it does. It communicates the CCG’s vision, key drivers and ambitions for 
quality, and explains how it will deliver the vision. The CCG is now taking steps to create 
and embed a culture of continuous quality improvement, based on openness, 
transparency and candour within the organisation and across the health and social care 
system. It has put quality at the centre of all our discussions with providers. 
 
We have embedded robust governance structures to provide assurance to the Governing 
Body and to NHS England, regarding the quality and safety of commissioned services. It 
has provided a challenge to providers where issues or concerns have been identified, and 
ensured that they are held to account appropriately where necessary. Moreover, it has 
focused attention on patient outcomes, and encouraged and nurtured a culture of 
openness, transparency and honesty with all providers, identifying examples of good 
practice as well as sharing lessons learned.   
 
This year, a particular area of focus has been the South Tyneside NHS Foundation Trust 
Care Quality Commission (CQC) quality report, which was published on 1st December 
2015, which gave the trust an overall rating of ‘requires improvement’. The report identified 
21 areas of poor practice, with ‘must do’ actions for STFT to deliver improvements. STFT 
developed an action plan which was agreed by CQC, and progress against delivery of the 
actions is reported and monitored regularly at the Quality Review Group by both the CCG 
and CQC. It is worthy to note that the trust was rated ‘outstanding’ in the category ‘are 
services at this trust caring?’ 
 
We have put systems and processes in place to fulfil specific duties of co-operation and 
best practice in relation to safeguarding vulnerable people. 
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We have ensured that the patient voice is heard by sharing patient stories with our 
committees, ensuring that good practice is commended and that any areas for 
improvement are identified with the respective providers and acted upon. The Quality 
Strategy monitors local and national patient experience data, themes and trends from user 
feedback, as well as complaints and concerns. It has robust processes in place to engage 
patients, carers and the public in the commissioning of services. 
 
We use a number of levers to support delivery of its vision for continuous quality 
improvement. It has various incentive schemes including the primary care incentive 
scheme for GP practices, and CQUIN (Commissioning for Quality and Innovation) for NHS 
contracted services. The incentives are used to promote quality improvement and support 
the delivery of our key priorities. 
 

Our areas of focus during 2016/17 
Alliancing 
 
The South Tyneside Alliance is a new, collective way of working across the whole health 
and care system involving commissioners, providers and other key stakeholders.  Through 
the Alliance Leadership Team, we collectively provide leadership to the transformation of 
the health and care system on behalf of our communities. We jointly aim to deliver better 
outcomes by exploring new service delivery approaches based on the integration of health 
and care in the community, closer to people’s homes. There is a particular focus on 
breaking down barriers which may exist between the separate organisations in the local 
system, to ensure a patient centred focus at all times. 
 
Under this banner we have also refreshed our shared governance approach, which has 
seen the former Integrated Board and Joint Commissioning Groups replaced with a new 
Alliance Business Meeting, comprising whole system representation, which is jointly 
responsible for developing and overseeing key strategic programmes of work.  
 
These include continuing our innovative work around Learning Disabilities which involves 
a pooled budget across health and social care underpinning by key principles and 
integrated team arrangements to ensure a seamless planned pathway of care, integrated 
within and across organisations. This works aims to deliver the Transforming Care 
Programme, supporting a reduction in the over reliance on inpatient beds and ensuring 
services are delivered in the community setting, with people being closely involved in the 
decisions which are made around their care. 

HealthPathways 
 
One of the CCG’s most significant initiatives during 2016/17 was the implementation of 
HealthPathways. This online resource is now utilised every day by colleagues in primary 
care helping to provide standardised care pathways for a range of clinical conditions. 
 
The initiative has been developed via a partnership agreement with colleagues from the 
Canterbury District Health Board in New Zealand where it was first developed. Following 
early roll outs throughout Australasia, South Tyneside was selected to be the first UK 
based delivery partner.    
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The site was launched in August 2016 with around 50 high priority/high volume pathways 
being made available, progress has continued since then with additional pathways being 
published on an ongoing basis. Each pathway is developed between a GP and a subject 
matter expert; this is usually a secondary care consultant but not exclusively.  They 
discuss how patients with a given condition should be assessed, treated and referred as 
appropriate, specifically in relation to service provision in South Tyneside. The outcome is 
a standardisation of care and a central ‘go to place’ for all relevant primary care 
information. 

Utilisation is monitored on an ongoing basis with initial results demonstrating a high usage 
compared to other HealthPathways sites. The challenge moving forward is to continue the 
development of the site through localising more pathways and demonstrating its impact on 
outcomes, converting high utilisation into specific improvements.  

Integrated teams 
 
During the year we have continued to roll out the new model of care, the South Tyneside 
Community model, which is made up of integrated health and social care teams, who are 
neighbourhood based and aligned to providing care to patients on specific GP practice 
lists. This is improving ways of working between GPs, community nurses and social 
workers, and patient stories have demonstrated that patient experience is beginning to 
change in terms of the delivery of more seamless, person centred planned care 
approaches. We will continue to develop this aspect of our service model into the next 
year.  
 
Also, in the next year we will be looking at how we transform – through integrated 
approaches - our rapid response community health and social care services which provide 
in and out of hours unplanned and intermediate care responses. Our aim will be to prevent 
avoidable emergency admissions to hospital and reduce permanent admissions to 
residential and nursing care. We are working closely with all partners in the delivery of this 
work. 
 

 
A Better U: Helping people to take control of their health 
 
A Better U is a new programme inspiring the people of South Tyneside to take more 
control of their own health. 
 
A Better U aims to support people to look after themselves and achieve maximum 
independence whilst living longer, healthier and more fulfilling lives. It is a partnership 
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between South Tyneside Council, health organisations – South Tyneside NHS Foundation 
Trust, NHS South Tyneside Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG), Northumberland, Tyne 
and Wear NHS Foundation Trust and Healthwatch South Tyneside – and the local 
voluntary sector.  The programme of work also supports people with long-term conditions 
to have a greater role in managing their condition. 
 

Transforming acute services  
 
Path to Excellence 
 
2016/17 has seen the CCG working closely with colleagues from Sunderland on this 
programme. The way that health and care services are provided has improved 
dramatically in recent years but, at the same time, services are under greater pressure 
than ever.  As a result, there is an urgent need to change the way we deliver clinical 
services work across South Tyneside and Sunderland. The quality of care that people 
receive can vary, preventable illness is common and growing demands on the NHS mean 
there is financial pressure on local organisations. 
 
The path to excellence is a five-year transformation of healthcare provision across South 
Tyneside and Sunderland. It is supported by South Tyneside NHS Foundation Trust, City 
Hospitals Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust, and NHS South Tyneside and Sunderland 
CCGs.   

It aims to secure the future of local NHS services, and to identify new and innovative ways 
of delivering high quality, joined up, sustainable care that will benefit our population both 
now and in the future. 

Healthcare service providers in South Tyneside and Sunderland are working together on a 
series of clinical service reviews. Led by consultants, doctors, nurses and clinical teams, 
the review process is designed to develop new, improved and more sustainable ways of 
organising healthcare services. We want to offer more proactive and efficient care with 
more emphasis on supporting people to stay well at home. 

The first areas of care that are being reviewed include stroke, maternity, gynaecology and 
paediatrics. This work involves wider clinical staff across hospitals, the GP community, 
other NHS organisations, the community and voluntary sector and most importantly, the 
involvement of patients and carers with experiences of the areas under review. 

Interim changes to acute stroke services 
 
During September, South Tyneside NHS Foundation Trust, City Hospitals Sunderland 
Foundation Trust, and South Tyneside and Sunderland CCGs made temporary changes to 
acute stroke services in the area. 
 
Recognising the pressures on the service including a national shortage of stroke 
physicians, the change saw acute stroke services temporarily centralised at Sunderland 
Royal Hospital, as a short-term solution to minimise risks to the service while consideration 
is given to how services could best be arranged across both areas, and a public 
consultation carried out. 

While there was no immediate concern around patient safety, this situation was causing a 
strain on the stroke service, with difficulties filling long-term senior vacancies leaving the 
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South Tyneside service in a vulnerable position and neither facility able to achieve the 
national SSNAP (the Sentinel Stroke National Audit Programme) standard. 

A full public consultation and travel impact assessment will take place before any long-
term decision is made. This will take part within the Path to Excellence framework outlined 
above. 

Changes to urgent care services 
 
We have continued to monitor the delivery and performance of urgent care services, 
following a review leading to commissioning of a new urgent care hub during 2015-16. 
This change took place in recognition of the clinical evidence showing that with a range of 
services available behind a single front door, patients can be guided to the right 
professional, first time – freeing up A&E staff to concentrate on genuine emergencies. 
 

The South Tyneside Urgent and Emergency Care Equity Audit reviewed the use of 
healthcare over a 12-month period to identify whether any groups or areas faced 
difficulties in using services. 

The audit considered ambulances, A&E, GPs, NHS 111, out-of-hours GPs, 999 and other 
services following the creation of the new urgent care hub at South Tyneside District 
Hospital. 

The group reported to the South Tyneside Health and Wellbeing Board that there appears 
to be equity of access to urgent and emergency care services for residents of South 
Tyneside, and that provision is comprehensive, accessible and timely for the varying 
needs across the borough. 

The report found no major issues with access to A&E, NHS 111, GPs, pharmacy or 
ambulance services, but did highlight some areas for further study. These included slight 
variations in ambulance response times in some wards, and in NHS 111 responses, 
though these remained within recommended guidelines.  

It also recognised progress made through Think Pharmacy First, the increase in parking 
capacity at South Tyneside District Hospital, and an independent transport study which 
showed that patients can reach the district hospital site within 40 minutes using public 
transport, with travel time reduced for some people since the hub was introduced. 

It also suggested further study of possible variations in A&E performance times for 
different age groups, though this may result from the fact that older people often have 
more complex conditions. These areas will continue to be monitored. 

Think Pharmacy First  

A campaign to encourage people to use expert advice from their local pharmacy and help 
ease pressure on hospital services has made a significant impact since it was launched 
last year.  

Under Think Pharmacy First, patients can get free, professional advice for a range of day-
to-day health problems from local pharmacists, who can also provide medicines free over 
the counter if appropriate, to those who are exempt from prescription charges, such as 
children or people on low incomes. 
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Over 25,000 people took advantage of the scheme in its first 15 months, freeing up around 
35 GP appointments a month for every practice in the borough which can now be focused 
on the patients who need them most. 

The figures show that 71% of Think Pharmacy First consultations were for patients aged 
18 and under, with 7% used by over-65s. 

The research indicated that without Think Pharmacy First, around 900 people every month 
would have attended their GP practice, with a further 60 using another service such as 
A&E, the urgent care hub or the out-of-hours GP. 

The campaign, which was developed in partnership with Gateshead and South Tyneside 
Local Pharmaceutical Committee, is aimed at people with common or less serious 
illnesses, such as coughs, colds, upset stomachs and skin problems. 

Our cancer strategy 
 
Cancer is the biggest cause of death from illness or disease in every age group, from the 
very youngest children through to old age, with mortality significantly higher in men than in 
women.  Public Health England’s report ‘Cancer in the North East’ (2016) has identified 
South Tyneside as having a higher incidence rate and cancer-related deaths in the North 
East.  South Tyneside has correspondingly high rates of smoking, alcohol drinking and 
obesity.  One year survival rates are lower than the North East average for breast and 
colorectal cancer, but higher for lung cancer. 
 
The current work with GP practices by the CCG and Cancer Research UK (CRUK) helps 
focus attention on these issues aiming to increase cancer screening uptake through staff 
and patient awareness and the identification of practice champions   

South Tyneside cancer locality group leads the strategic direction and project planning for 
cancer related projects with a focus on the delivery of the Cancer Strategy.  It has also 
focused on delivering improvements in cancer services including the 2-week wait and the 
62-day cancer pathway standards. 

Lung cancer 
 
We have initiated a screening pilot to seek to identify lung cancer earlier. This is the only 
programme of its type in the North East. Six Practices (30,000 practice population +) in the 
pilot asked patients with Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) if they would like 
to accept a low dose commuted tomography (CT) scan.  The aim is to identify lung cancer 
early as once symptoms are detected 18 month survival is low.  This will be extended to all 
practices in 2017/18. 
 
Smoking 
 
Whilst smoking rates have dropped significantly in the last 10 years in South Tyneside 
they remain significantly higher in disadvantaged communities.  This means South 
Tyneside has a legacy of smoking related disease particularly high within communities that 
make less use of cancer screening opportunities.  People will see more publicity about 
smoking cessation and find more opportunities for smokers to get help. 
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Improving mental health services  
 
A number of improvements have been made to mental health services, including a new 
24/7 phone service making it easier to contact a specialist in a crisis situation.  
 
The introduction of street triage means a mental health nurse now travels to incidents with 
the police to offer on the spot advice and ensure that people are directed to mental health 
services if that is what they need. The number of arrests in these circumstances has 
dropped by 90% over the past year. 
 
The CCG has commissioned an ‘ageless’ Lifecycle service to offer a single point of access 
to primary care mental health services; extending the existing talking therapies provision 
for adults to children and young people, and also to families. This innovative, integrated 
service will offer a positive patient experience by improving waiting times and improving 
access to support, particularly for children. 
 
The Mental Health Lifecycle service has been fully operational since the beginning of 
March and already achieved referral rates of 50% of the forecast numbers.   
 
Our Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) performance remains strong. 
The year to date figures show that the proportion of adults entering psychological 
therapies is 18.3%, and overall rate moving to recovery of 53.7%. The proportion of people 
waiting 18 weeks or less is 97.7%. Our strong performance has been recognised 
regionally and nationally.  We have been approached for advice by a number of CCG 
colleagues across the country and are currently in discussion with colleagues in the 
Strategic Clinical Network (SCN) to share learning with other areas to improve regional 
performance. 
 
Through a tight focus on waiting time reduction and the measurement of clinical outcomes 
within the specialist Children’s and young people’s service (CYPS) service we have 
achieved significant results. Clinical outcomes as measured via Health of the Nation 
Outcome Scales (HonOSCA) show an overall medium clinical improvement effect. 85.9% 
of young people now wait less than 9 weeks from referral to treatment and there are no 
young people waiting more than 12 weeks between referral and treatment.   
 
One-stop clinics transform diabetes care  
 
Three one-stop shop-style clinics are helping to improve diabetes care by bringing 
together nine separate annual health checks under one roof.  
 
The facilities, which are funded by the CCG and operated by South Tyneside NHS 
Foundation Trust, offer a more personal service, with the vital tests carried out together 
instead of using several appointments at different times of the year.   
 
This simpler approach frees up GPs to spend more time with patients, planning their care 
together rather than using the time to carry out the tests themselves. Tests and services 
include BMI (body mass index), blood glucose, blood pressure, blood creatinine tests to 
check kidney function, cholesterol checks, urinary albumin tests for early kidney damage, 
plus retinal and foot screening and help with giving up smoking. 
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End of life care  
 
In South Tyneside, people are still more likely to die in hospital than in most other parts of 
the country, 57% of people die in hospital in the borough compared to 47% nationally and 
49% across the North East.   
 
To address this and improve the quality of care for people at their End of Life the Clinical 
Leads of the CCG with staff in other health and social care organisations have developed 
a programme of work which has mapped current service provision, highlighting areas for 
improvement, and listened to patient and family stories about their end of life care.   
 
As the new service model develops, the following activities have been delivered: 

o Delivery of education time with GPs regarding palliative care registers and 
referrals to specialist care, with evidence of increased usage of palliative care 
registers in primary care  

o Palliative care consultants also delivered education sessions with staff at South 
Tyneside District Hospital.  The aim was to raise the profile of this team and the 
support they could provide and improve relationships between teams to reduce 
handoff issues.  

o Whilst there is a North East-wide project looking at implementing electronic 
shared health records, the CCG has implemented a method where community 
nursing teams and GP practices can share information.  This will reduce the 
need for families to tell their story on multiple occasions. 

 
Work on end of life care will continue in 2017/18. 

Primary care co-commissioning and working with GP practices 
 
Giving CCGs greater say over NHS England’s primary care commissioning responsibilities 
is part of the wider strategy to support the development of “place-based” commissioning 
and join up care pathways. During 2016/17 NHS South Tyneside CCG has participated in 
the co-commissioning agenda at level 2 – joint arrangements.  
 
It is a critical step towards enabling the new models of care set out in the NHS Five Year 
Forward View, on the assumption that integrated commissioning is a key enabler of 
integrated provision. The CCG will take full delegated responsibility for commissioning 
primary medical services at level 3, from 1 April 2017. 
 

Primary care strategy 
 
The majority of patient contacts take place in general practice so it is critical to consider 
the contribution of general practice in our overall system.   The CCG is working with GPs 
to plan the future shape of primary care in line with the themes set out in the Government's 
document the Five Year Forward View.  During 2016/17 we have developed, with 
practices, our primary care strategy which focuses on five key strands as follows: 
 

1) Stakeholders working together to deliver Primary Care at scale - redesigning 
care provision unconstrained by organisational barriers 
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2) Reducing variation -  supporting practices to provide high quality, evidence 
based care within safe and efficient systems 

3) Changing the focus of primary care – supporting patients to be proactive and in 
control of their health 

4) Improving access to primary care - defining and measuring good access and 
ensuring the right professional with the right skills at the right time. 

5) Workforce Planning – helping to make South Tyneside an attractive place to 
work by creating innovative, impactive and balanced roles. 

  
There will be an early focus on delivering extended access into primary care, with 
additional evening and weekend services being in place by autumn 2017. This work 
therefore commenced in earnest in 2016/17. 
 
During 2016/17 we continue with our additional winter weekend services for patients from 
December through until March. Linked with NHS 111 services and with the local urgent 
care hub, these services were accessed by patients who had urgent primary care needs, 
the aim being to avoid an unnecessary A&E attendance by providing access into primary 
care outside of the usual, core hours. 720 appointments were available and 400 
appointments attended (56% uptake) with 82% of patients attending having been referred 
by NHS 111. 

 

Regional initiatives 
Sustainability and transformation plan (STP) 

There are now 44 STP footprints across the country with NHS South Tyneside CCG a part 
of the Northumberland, Tyne & Wear and North Durham plan. 

This plan will describe our shared local vision for 2021 regarding care both inside and 
outside our hospitals, underpinned by better integration with local authority services in 
respect of prevention, early intervention and social care. 

The first version was published at the end of November, with next steps to include: 
• How we can better collaborate on prioritising prevention despite many 

financial cuts and other challenges  
• Enabling the out of hospital sector to be stabilised and strengthened as 

demand grows  
• Optimising the acute hospital sector to get the best quality within available 

resources  

North East Urgent and Emergency Care Vanguard  
 
All NHS organisations in the North East are part of the North East Urgent and Emergency 
Care Network. In 2016/17, the network received £2.9m from NHS England’s New Care 
Models programme to implement various schemes across the North East. 
 
Some of these schemes included: 

• Respond - simulation training package for mental health crisis care which rolled out 
across the region following its successful launch in September. Its aim is to 
transform professional responses to mental health crisis through better 
collaboration and knowledge 
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• Under 5 app (NHS child health) – the app gives easy to understand guidance on 
childhood illnesses and recognising when your child is unwell, as well as advice on 
when and where to seek treatment 

• Behavioural analysis - a key element of the network’s approach is undertaking high 
quality market research to understand the views and behaviours of patients and 
NHS staff in relation to urgent and emergency care services 

• Great North Care Record - The Great North Care Record (also known as MIG – 
Medical Interoperability Gateway) aims to bring the region up to a common 
standard of information-sharing, saving time and improving patient safety. The MIG 
enables real-time access to key primary care patient information at the point of care 
(emergency departments, GP out of hours services, mental health trusts, NHS 111 
and the ambulance service) 

• Flight deck - a real-time application displaying the current status of emergency care 
across the region as well as predicting the likely scenario four to twelve hours 
ahead 

• Clinical hub - the clinical hub involves Emergency Department consultants working 
within the hub on Monday and Friday 6–10pm and Saturday and Sunday 8am– 4pm 
to provide enhanced clinical assessment of patients who would otherwise be 
directed to their nearest Emergency Department 

 
Winter campaign 
 
CCGs in the region have worked together to develop a regional marketing campaign for 
winter. This work was developed using a social marketing approach using the insight 
developed through the behavioural analysis as part of the North East Urgent and 
Emergency Care Network. 
 
The campaign used ‘plasticine people’ to highlight good self-care, raise awareness of the 
expert advice available free at every pharmacy in the region, and promote the new NHS 
Child Health app, which helps parents of under-fives look after their children’s health.  
 
The campaign started on 14 November, to coincide with National Self-Care Week and 
continued until the end of March 2017. 
 
The CCG also supported the national Stay Well this Winter campaign which was launched 
by NHS England and focused on people aged 65 and over or people with long-term health 
conditions and their carers, family and friends to take specific actions to stay well over the 
winter, including seeking advice from a pharmacist at the first signs of illness and having 
the flu jab. 
 
Patient and public engagement 
 
Public and patient engagement is an integral part of the work that the CCG does.  
Engagement and consultation with partners, public, patients, carers and Healthwatch, as 
well as a range of other stakeholders, has been a consistent thread throughout the 
development of our commissioning intentions.   
 

We refreshed our communications and engagement strategy during the year which sets 
the scene for the culture of the organisation around communications and engagement in a 
more systematic way.  This will be vital as services across health and social care become 
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more integrated.  Overall, the strategy sets out how the CCG involves and communicates 
with people at all stages of the decision making process, promotes understanding of its 
vision and local healthcare priorities, and works to instil confidence in its clinical leadership 

Our delivery mechanisms have included the following regular meetings for two-way 
engagement:  
 

• Local Engagement Board (LEB)  
• Bi-monthly updates to HealthNet  
• Patient Reference Group (PRG)  
• Presentations to People Select and Overview and Scrutiny Committees 
• Presentations to Healthwatch Board 

 
Items discussed included the following subjects, the feedback from which is fed into 
commissioning work programmes: 
 

• Long Term Conditions 
• Urgent Care 
• Improving discharge from hospital 
• Lung cancer pilot 
• Receptionist signposting 
• Canterbury Health System 
• HealthPathways 
• Services for older people in South Tyneside 
• Primary Care in South Tyneside 
• Planning 
• Sustainability and Transformation Plan 

 
Additionally, CCG staff have continued to engage with students through a three year 
Business in the Community partnership with Mortimer Community College, helping young 
people to learn about health issues, accessing services at their GP practice and 
confidentiality.  Staff have also helped students prepare for job interviews by taking part in 
mock interviews. 
 

Feedback from partners and stakeholders 
 
Each year a 360 degree stakeholder survey is completed to provide an analysis of the key 
partners of the CCG. Some of the highlights from this include: 
 

• 81% of stakeholders felt engaged with the CCG 
• 77% of stakeholders felt they were able to raise concerns about the quality of local 

services 
• 71% of stakeholders have confidence in the CCG to commission high quality 

services for the local population 
 
Key issues and risks 
 
We have outlined the key issues and risks throughout this annual report and accounts and 
these are explained in sections 4.3 and 4.4 of the Annual Governance Statement. 
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Performance analysis  
 

Financial Performance 
The Clinical Commissioning Group delivered its financial duties during the financial year 
2016/17. 

The financial statements for the year ending 31st March 2017 are set out from page 78 
onwards of this report. 

The statements have been produced under International Financial Reporting Standards 
and in accordance with the Department of Health manual for accounts.   

In terms of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s financial duties: 

Target Target 

Met? 

Deliver surplus on revenue budgets of at least 1%  

Maintain running costs within running cost 
allowance  

Maintain capital spending within capital resource 
limit N/A 

Hold a 1% budget for the national risk reserve  

Ensure cash spending is within the cash limit set 
(>£250,000)  

 

The Clinical Commissioning Group achieved a revenue surplus of £4,927k against a 
resource limit of £251,316k or 2%.  The CCG planned to deliver 1% surplus in line with 
NHS England business rules.     

As part of the planning requirements for 2016/17, all CCGs were mandated by NHS 
England to hold 1% of their total funding allocation uncommitted as a ‘risk reserve’.  For 
South Tyneside CCG this equated to £2.4 million. 

NHS England guidance required the CCG to leave the risk reserve uncommitted during the 
year.   

In March 2017, NHS England confirmed that all CCGs were required to increase their 
surplus by the value of this risk reserve.  Effectively these two requirements mean that the 
CCG has only been able to spend 98% of its original confirmed funding allocation for the 
year on commissioning healthcare for the population of South Tyneside. 

This additional surplus will be used by NHS England nationally to offset financial pressures 
in the wider NHS system. 
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The achievement of this level of surplus was challenging and has meant that the CCG has 
had limited opportunities for investment and has consequently adopted more 
transformational ways of working to deliver its plans.   

The Executive Committee and Governing Body received financial reports on current 
performance and forecast positions at each meeting, within which key risks were identified.   

The chart below shows the main areas of expenditure for the Clinical Commissioning 
Group. 

 

Performance measures   
 
We have worked hard to achieve our targets as set out by the NHS Constitution and the 
CCG Improvement and Assessment Framework. The following information highlights our 
performance against the key areas – A&E four hour waits, ambulance handover times, 
cancer waiting times, referral to treatment, our local quality indicators, healthcare acquired 
infections and mental health.  
 
Following is our areas performing particularly well and some that still require improvement. 

Urgent care performance 
A&E Four hour waits A 
The principal measure used to assess local urgent care performance is the standard that 
95% of patients attending A&E will be admitted or discharged within four hours.  

During 2016/17, 92.7% of South Tyneside CCG patients were admitted or discharged 
within four hours, March YTD. South Tyneside NHS FT was below the required standard 
for most of the year, but is working to recover this position in quarter four of 2016/17 with 
plans to sustain recovery into 2017/18.   

55% 

12% 

4% 

5% 

8% 

14% 

1% 1% 

CCG Expenditure % 

Hospital Care

Mental Health Services

Community Services

Better Care Fund

Individual Packages of Care

Prescribing / other Primary Care

Running Costs

Other
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Ambulance responses A 
Performance is measured at both an individual CCG (South Tyneside patients) and a Trust 
aggregate level (NEAS NHSFT). During 2016/17, 72.3% of South Tyneside patients (Cat A 
Red 1) requiring an ambulance urgently because their condition was considered 
immediately life threatening, who had an ambulance arrive within the required standard of 
eight minutes, were within the required standard, March YTD.   

During 2016/17, 65.7% of South Tyneside patients (Cat A Red 2) who had an ambulance 
arrive within eight minutes is below the required level. The response time performance for 
NEAS patients overall is also currently below the required standard, March YTD.  

During 2016/17, 93.1% of South Tyneside patients who required a fully equipped 
ambulance to attend urgently, but did not have a condition considered immediately life 
threatening having an ambulance arrive within 19 minutes, was outside the required 
standard, March YTD. 

A&E decision to admit to admission > 12 Hours G 
South Tyneside NHS FT had no incidents of patients waiting more than 12 hours from the 
decision to admit to actual admission in the last three and a half years 

Cancer performance 
Cancer waiting times G 
The NHS Constitution sets out that CCGs are to achieve a set of cancer waiting times 
standards.  All key standards are currently at the required level for South Tyneside CCG. 

2WW all cancers G 
During 2016/17, the 95.7% of patients who are currently receiving an outpatient 
appointment within two weeks when referred by their GP is currently at the required level 
March YTD. 

2WW breast symptomatic G 
During 2016/17, the 95.8% of patients who were referred urgently for an outpatient 
appointment with breast symptoms and received their appointment within two weeks is 
currently at the required level March YTD. 

31 day first treatment – all cancers G 
During 2016/17, the 98.8% of patients who were diagnosed with cancer who commenced 
treatment within 31 days was within the required standard March YTD.  

The 89.2% of patients who were diagnosed with cancer and commenced treatment 
within 62 days, following an urgent referral from their GP is currently above the 
required standard, March YTD.   

 
Healthcare associated infections (HCAI) R 
All CCGs have objectives for HCAIs set by NHS England. There is a zero tolerance of 
MRSA (Methicillin resistant Staphylococcus Aureus), which means that all commissioners 
and providers targets are zero.  

Organisations across the North East have demonstrated an improvement in the health 
care associated infection rates compared to 2015/16.  It has been acknowledged 
nationally that there have been significant improvements over recent years. CCGs are 
required to meet national standards for clostridium difficile and MRSA. 
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There have been provisionally no cases of MRSA at South Tyneside NHS FT in 2016/17.  
However, there have been 2 cases of MRSA attributable to South Tyneside CCG February 
YTD.  

Improving access to psychological therapies  
Access G 
South Tyneside CCG continues to deliver excellent access to psychological therapies for 
patients diagnosed with depression or anxiety, at a level in excess of the 15% national 
requirement 

Waiting times G 
South Tyneside patients who are accessing psychological therapies are currently waiting 
within the required standards of less than 6 and 18 weeks for their initial appointment.  

South Tyneside CCG patients accessing psychological therapies, who move to recovery is 
currently is above the 50% requirement.   

Mixed-sex accommodation G 
Under the NHS constitution, providers of NHS funded care are expected to eliminate 
mixed-sex accommodation. There have been no breaches of mixed-sex accommodation in 
2016/17 March YTD. 

Referral to treatment G 
During 2016/17 the 94.2% of South Tyneside CCG patients who continued to wait for 
treatment had been waiting less than 18 weeks, well within the required standard March 
YTD. 

Patient waiting more than 52 weeks for treatment R 
There have been 5 breaches of the 52 week waiting time for South Tyneside CCG patients 
in 2016/17. The 5 breaches of the standard equate to 3 patients, this is because 1 patient 
breached in 3 consecutive months, and this patient has since been discharged. 
 
CCG Improvement and Assessment Framework 
The CCG Improvement and Assessment Framework forms part of the assurance process 
for CCGs.  As a result the CCG is subject to monitoring on six clinical priority areas, 
Cancer, Dementia, Maternity, Mental Health, Learning Disabilities and Diabetes.  
 
The CCG ratings against these indicators can be found at https://www.nhs.uk/service-
search/scorecard/results/1173.  
 

Sustainable Development  
 
As an NHS organisation, and as a spender of public funds, we have an obligation to work 
in a way that has a positive effect on the communities for which we commission and 
procure healthcare services. Sustainability means spending public money well, the smart 
and efficient use of natural resources and building healthy, resilient communities.  By 
making the most of of social, environmental and economic assets we can improve health 
both in the immediate and long term even in the context of rising cost of natural resources. 
Spending money well and considering the social and environmental impacts is enshrined 
in the Public Services (Social Value) Act (2012).  We acknowledge this responsibility to our 
patients, local communities and the environment by working hard to minimise our footprint.
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As a part of the NHS, public health and social care system, it is our duty to contribute 
towards the level of ambition set in 2014 of reducing the carbon footprint of the NHS, 
public health and social care system by 34% (from a 1990 baseline) equivalent to a 28% 
reduction from a 2013 baseline by 2020. It is our aim to meet this target by reducing our 
carbon emissions 28% by 2020 using 2013 as the baseline year. 

Modelled Carbon Footprint          
The majority of the environmental and social impacts are through the services we 
commission. Therefore, the following information uses a scaled model based on work 
performed by the Sustainable Development Unit (SDU) in 2014/15. More information 
available here: http://www.sduhealth.org.uk/policy-strategy/reporting/nhs-carbon-
footprint.aspx           

Category % CO2e 

Energy 74% 

Travel 25% 

Procurement 1% 

Commissioning 0% 

   

    

 

Policies          
In order to embed sustainability within our business it is important to explain where in our 
process and procedures sustainability features.  

 Area Is sustainability considered? 

Commissioning (environmental) Yes 

Commissioning (social impact) Yes 

Suppliers' impact Yes 

Business Cases Yes  

Travel No 

74% 

25% 
1% 

0% 

Proportions of Carbon Footprint 

Energy

Travel

Procurement

Commissioning
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One of the ways in which an organisation can embed sustainability is through the use of a 
Sustainable Development Management Plan (SDMP). We will be putting together an 
SDMP in the near future for consideration by the board.     

As an organisation that acknowledges its responsibility towards creating a sustainable 
future, we help achieve that goal by running awareness campaigns that promote the 
benefits of sustainability to our staff.        

Climate change brings new challenges to our business both in direct effects to the 
healthcare estates, but also to patient health. Examples of recent years include the effects 
of heat waves, extreme temperatures and prolonged periods of cold, floods, droughts etc. 
The organisation has identified the need for the development of a board approved plan to 
include adaptation for future climate change risks affecting our area. 

Partnerships          

As a commissioning and contracting organisation, we will need effective contract 
mechanisms to deliver our ambitions for sustainable healthcare delivery. The NHS policy 
framework already sets the scene for commissioners and providers to operate in a 
sustainable manner. Crucially for us as a CCG, evidence of this commitment will need to 
be provided in part through contracting mechanisms.      

We have not currently established any strategic partnerships. For commissioned services 
here is the sustainability comparator for our providers:  

Organisation Name SDMP 
On track 
for 34% 

reduction 
GCC 

Healthy 
travel 
plan 

Adaptation 
SD 

Reporting 
score 

SOUTH TYNESIDE NHS FOUNDATION 
TRUST Yes 

1. On 
track to 

meet 
target 

No Yes Yes Minimum 

NORTHUMBERLAND, TYNE AND WEAR 
NHS FOUNDATION TRUST Yes 

1. On 
track to 

meet 
target 

No No Yes Poor 

NORTH EAST AMBULANCE SERVICE 
NHS FOUNDATION TRUST Yes 

1. On 
track to 

meet 
target 

No No Yes Poor 

CITY HOSPITALS SUNDERLAND NHS 
FOUNDATION TRUST Yes 

1. On 
track to 

meet 
target 

No Yes Yes Good 

More information on these measures is available here: www.sduhealth.org.uk/policy-
strategy/reporting/organisational-summaries.aspx. 

Sustainability performance 
As a part of the NHS, public health and social care system, it is our duty to contribute 
towards the level of ambition set in 2014 of reducing the carbon footprint of the NHS, 
public health and social care system by 34% (from a 1990 baseline) equivalent to a 28% 
reduction from a 2013 baseline by 2020. It is our aim to meet this target by reducing our 
carbon emissions 10% by 2015 using 2007 as the baseline year. Here's how we have 
done: 
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Organisation Name Building 
energy use 

Building 
energy 
use per 

FTE 

Water 
Water 

use per 
FTE 

Percent 
high cost 

waste 

Waste 
cost 

increase 

SOUTH TYNESIDE NHS FOUNDATION TRUST 
>10% 

increase 3.8 >20% 
increase 30 

>75% 
high 
cost 

Data not 
available 

NORTHUMBERLAND, TYNE AND WEAR NHS 
FOUNDATION TRUST 

>10% 
decrease 2.5 0-20% 

increase 27 
<=75% 

high 
cost 

0-20% 
increase 

NORTH EAST AMBULANCE SERVICE NHS 
FOUNDATION TRUST 

>10% 
decrease 1.0 0-20% 

decrease 6 
<=75% 

high 
cost 

0-20% 
decrease 

CITY HOSPITALS SUNDERLAND NHS 
FOUNDATION TRUST 

0-10% 
increase 3.5 0-20% 

increase 46 
>97% 
high 
cost 

>20% 
decrease 

  

More information on these measures is available here: www.sduhealth.org.uk/policy-
strategy/reporting/organisational-summaries.aspx. 

Travel          
We can improve local air quality and improve the health of our community by promoting 
active travel – to our staff, through our providers and to the patients and public that use the 
services we commission.           

Every action counts and we are a lean organisation trying to realise efficiencies across the 
board for cost and carbon (CO2e) reductions. We support a culture for active travel to 
improve staff wellbeing and reduce sickness.        

Around 5% of travel and transport is due to our services so we have quantified the impacts 
on health. For 2016/17 travel and transport related to our services reduced the local 
population health by 0 Quality Adjusted Life Years (QALYs).  

Travel  
Category Mode 2015/16 2016/17 

Staff commute 
miles 25,937 30,740 
tCO2e 9.38 11.11 

    

Energy 
Resource 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 

Gas 
Use (kWh) 0 0 101,393 75,891 

tCO2e 0 0 21 16 

Oil 
Use (kWh) 0 0 0 0 

tCO2e 0 0 0 0 

Coal 
Use (kWh) 0 0 0 0 

tCO2e 0 0 0 0 

Electricity Use (kWh) 0 0 24,445 32,873 
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tCO2e 0 0 14 17 

Green 
Electricity 

Use (kWh) 0 0 0 0 

tCO2e 0 0 0 0 

Total Energy CO2e 0 0 35 33 

Total Energy Spend  £            -     £            -     £                -    
 £         
6,811  

 

Waste 
Waste 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 

Recycling/ 
reuse 

(tonnes) 2 2 1 0 

tCO2e 0.03 0.03 0.02 0.00 

Other 
(tonnes) 1 1 2 0 

tCO2e 0.03 0.03 0.03 0.00 

Landfill 
(tonnes) 3 3 3 0 

tCO2e 0.68 0.68 0.61 0.00 

Total Waste (tonnes) 6 6 5 0 

% Recycled or Re-used 29% 29% 20%   

Total Waste tCO2e 0.74 0.74 0.66 0.00 
     

Reducing inequalities 
 
NHS South Tyneside CCG complies with the Equality Act 2010, the Public Sector Equality 
Duty and the Health and Social Care Act 2012. We have demonstrated our commitment to 
taking Equality, Diversity and Human Rights (EDHR) into account in everything we do, 
whether that is commissioning services, employing people, developing policies, 
communicating, consulting or involving people in our work as evidenced below: 
The Equality Delivery System 2 (EDS2)  
We have implemented the Equality Delivery System (EDS2) framework and have been 
using the tool to support the mainstreaming of equalities into all our core business 
functions to support us in meeting the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) and to improve 
our performance for the community, patients, carers and staff with protected 
characteristics that are outlined within the Equality Act 2010.  This has been an opportunity 
to raise equality in service commissioning and gain insight into the local population’s 
diverse health needs and we have reviewed and updated our Equality Objectives to reflect 
this. 

Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES) 
In accordance with the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) and the NHS Equality and 
Diversity Council agreeing measures to ensure employees from black and ethnic minority 
(BME) backgrounds have equal access to career opportunities and receive fair treatment 
in the workplace, the CCG has shown due regard to the Workforce Race Equality 
Standard (WRES). We have collated staff data as outlined within the updated WRES 
reporting template for 2016. We aim to improve workplace experiences and representation 
at all levels for black and minority ethnic staff. 
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Equality Analysis 
Our Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) Toolkit has been implemented into core business 
processes to provide a comprehensive insight into our local population, patients’ and 
staff’s diverse health needs.  

The tool covers all equality groups offered protection under the Equality Act 2010 (Race, 
Disability, Gender, Age, Sexual Orientation, Religion/Belief, Marriage and Civil Partnership 
and Gender Re-assignment) in addition to Human Rights and Carers.  

Our EIA process ensures that we can consider the impact or effect of our policies, 
procedures and functions on the population we serve. For any negative impacts identified 
we will take immediate steps to deal with such issues as part of the action plan set out in 
the tool to make sure equity of service delivery is available for all as well as the opportunity 
to continuously monitor progress against challenges identified to monitor and reduce 
inequality for our local population. 

The tool also now includes checks in relation the Accessible Information Standard to aid 
compliance with the Standard when commissioning services to ensure that information is 
provided to all service users and patients in a way they can understand. 

Health Inequalities  
NHS South Tyneside CCG has regard to the need to reduce inequalities between patients 
in accessing health services for our local population. We understand our local population 
and local health needs, through the use of the South Tyneside JSNA: 

https://www.southtyneside.gov.uk/article/49425?utm_source=friendly_URL&utm_medium=
all_marketing_materials&utm_campaign=jsna 

Through our Equality Analysis process we carry out evidence-based service reviews 
impacting the risks for our protected groups when reviewing and developing our services. 
Our EIA tool is developed to make these considerations at the beginning of the decision 
making process and throughout all of the appropriate stages of work. 

The EIA is embedded into our governance process and sign off from the executive team is 
required for monitoring and completion. 

We work in partnership with local NHS Trusts as well as local voluntary sector 
organisations and community groups to identify the needs of the diverse local community 
we serve to improve health and healthcare for the local population.  

We seek the views of patients, carers and the public through individual feedback/input, 
consultations, working with other organisations and community groups, attendance at 
community events and engagement activity including patient surveys and focus groups. 

We invite people to be involved as little or as much as they like, enabling them to help 
shape and influence the way NHS health services are commissioned.  

This year, through our Commissioning Support Unit, we have continued to work closely 
with other local NHS organisations to support the regional working that has been a legacy 
of the Equality, Diversity and Human Rights Regional Leads Meetings. Also nationally we 
have been awarded NHS Employers E&D Partner status for 2016/17.  

• Further information can be found at: 
o Health Profiles: www.healthprofiles.info 
o Public Health England – Local Health: http://www.localhealth.org.uk 
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Governance 
 
Equality and Diversity is governed and reports into the Audit and Risk committee and the 
Executive Team. The committee ensures we are compliant with legislative, mandatory and 
regulatory requirements regarding equality and diversity, develops and delivers national 
and regional diversity-related initiatives within the CCG, provides a forum for sharing 
issues and opportunities, functions as a two-way conduit for information dissemination and 
escalation, monitors progress against the Equality Strategy and supports us in the 
achievement of key equality and diversity objectives. 
 
A quarterly Governance Assurance Report is submitted to the committee outlining relevant 
updates in relation to EDHR. 
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ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT  

Corporate Governance Report 

Members’ Report 
Member Practices and Council of Practices 

As a membership organisation the CCG comprises 24 practices that make up the 
membership, represented through the Council of Practices. The Member Practices that 
comprise the CCG are as follows: 

Practice Name Address 

Victoria Medical Centre 12-28 Glen Street, Hebburn, NE31 1NU 
Farnham Medical 
Centre 

435 Stanhope Road, South Shields, NE33 4QY 

Marsden Road Health 
 

Marsden Road, South Shields, NE346RE 
Mayfield Medical 

 
Park Road, Jarrow, NE32 5SE 

Drs Haque and Haque 171, Wenlock Road, South Shields, NE34 9BP 
Talbot Medical Centre Stanley Street, South Shields, NE34 0BX 

Wawn Street Surgery Wawn Street, South Shields, NE33 4DX 

Trinity Medical Centre New George Street, South Shields, NE33 5DU 
Dr Thorniley-Walker 
and Partners 

The Medical Centre, Gibson Court, Boldon Colliery, NE35 
9AN 

Albert Road Surgery 118 Albert Road, Jarrow. Tyne and Wear, NE32 5AG 
Westoe Surgery Stanhope Parade Health Centre, Gordon Street, South 

Shields, NE33 4JP 

Ellison View Surgery Campbell Park Road, Hebburn, NE31 2SP 
Central Surgery Cleadon Park Primary Care Centre, Prince Edward Road, 

South Shields, NE34 7QD 

Dr Chan Stanhope Parade Health Centre, Gordon Street, South 
Shields, NE33 4JP 

St George and 
Riverside Practice  

New George Street, South Shields, NE33 5DU 

Colliery Court Medical 
Group 

The Medical Centre, Gibson Court, Boldon Colliery, NE35 
9AN 

The Glen Medical 
Group 

The Glen Primary Care Centre, Hebburn, NE31 1NU 

Whitburn Surgery 3 Byers Street, Whitburn, Sunderland, SR6 7EE 

 

 

Drs Dowsett and Overs Palmer Community Hospital, Wear Street, Jarrow, NE32 3UX 

Imeary Street  78 Imeary Street, South Shields, NE33 4EG 
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The Park Surgery The Glen Primary Care Centre, Glen Street, Hebburn, NE31 
1NU 

Ravensworth Surgery Horsley Hill Road, South Shields, NE33 3ET 

Chichester Practice Stanhope Parade, Gordon Street, South Shields, NE33 4JP 

East Wing Surgery  East Wing, Palmer, Community Hospital, Wear Street, Jarrow. 
NE32 3UX 

 

In keeping with the CCG as a membership organisation, there is an established Council of 
Practices which has reserved a limited number of matters to itself (as specified in the 
CCG’s Scheme of Reservation and Delegation) having delegated the majority of functions 
and duties of the CCG, through the means of the Constitution, to the Governing Body. The 
Council of Practices met on four occasions in 2016/17. 

Governing Body 
The main functions of the Governing Body are described in section 14L of the 2006 Health 
Service Act (inserted by section 25 of the Health and Social Care Act 2012). The 
Governing Body’s principal aim is to ensure that the group has made appropriate 
arrangements for ensuring that it complies with its obligations to exercise its functions 
effectively, efficiently, economically and in line with relevant generally accepted principles 
of good governance. The CCG’s Constitution specifies the arrangements made by the 
CCG for the discharge of functions by the Governing Body. 

Membership of the Governing Body is specified in the NHS (Clinical Commissioning 
Group) Regulations 2012 and must include: 

• at least six members (including its chair and deputy chair) 
• accountable officer 
• at least one each of the following: 

o an employee of the CCG who has a professional qualification in accountancy 
and the expertise or experience to lead the financial management of the 
CCG; 

o a registered nurse, other than one who falls within regulation 12(1) 
o an individual who is a secondary care specialist, other than one who falls 

within regulation 12(1) 
o a lay person who is qualified for membership by virtue of regulation 12(3) 
o another lay person who is qualified for membership by virtue of regulation 

12(4) 

The CCG’s Constitution specifies that “each member of the governing body should share 
responsibility as part of a team to ensure that the group exercises its functions effectively, 
efficiently, and economically, with good governance and in accordance with the terms of its 
constitution. Each brings their unique perspective, informed by their expertise and 
experience. Notwithstanding this, all members of the governing body have joint 
responsibility for every decision of the governing body regardless of their individual skills 
and experience”.  
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The Governing Body is also supported by a number of committees which it has 
established and which provide regular reports to it. Details for these committees are set 
out in the Annual Governance Statement below. The executive team is responsible for the 
day-to-day running of the organisation and implementing decisions taken at a strategic 
level by the Board. 

The table below shows the members of the Governing Body during the year: 

Name Position 
Dr Matthew Walmsley GP Member, Chair 
Dr David Hambleton Chief Executive 
Kate Hudson Chief Finance Officer 
Stephen Clark Lay Member, Deputy Chair 
Dr Tarquin Cross Secondary Care Consultant 
Jeff Gosling Lay Member, Public & Patient Involvement 
Paul Morgan Lay Member, Governance, Chair of Audit & Risk 

Committee 
Dr Vis Nathan GP Member 
Ann Fox (to August 2016) Director of Quality & Patient Safety 
Jeanette Scott Thomas (from 
22 August 2016) 

Director of Quality & Patient Safety 

Christine Briggs Director of Operations (Non-voting) 
 

Division of responsibilities  
The Governing Body is satisfied that there is a clear division of responsibilities between 
the Chair and Chief Executive. 

Audit & Risk Committee 
The Audit & Risk Committee is a key part of the CCG’s governance and assurance 
framework and supports the organisation to achieve its goals, objectives and 
responsibilities to its stakeholders. 

The Audit & Risk Committee was established to provide the Governing Body with an 
independent and objective review of its financial systems, financial information and 
compliance with laws, guidance and regulations governing the NHS. 

The committee is appointed by the Governing Body from its ‘non-executive’ members and 
consists of not less than three members. The Chief Finance Officer and representatives 
from internal and external audit, counter fraud and CCG management are also in 
attendance.   

Details of other CCG and Governing Body committees are set out in the Annual 
Governance Statement below. 

Register of Interests 
The Governing Body is satisfied that no direct conflicts of interest exist for any member of 
the Board, an accurate register of interests is regularly maintained and that each Lay 
Member/Non-Executive Director is considered to be independent.  

The register of directors’ interests is available on the CCG’s 
website http://www.southtynesideccg.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/04/STCCG-
Register-of-Interests-GB-and-Committees-2017-18-12.4.17.pdf and is updated bi-annually 
in accordance with requirements.  
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Personal data related incidents 
Seven information governance incidents were reported by the CCG in 2016/17. Five 
incidents were generated by external organisations, four of which were CCG member 
practices.  One of the incidents that originated from a member practice was 
compounded by inadvertent actions of CCG staff and required reporting as a SIRI via 
the CCG IG Toolkit using the HSCIC SIRI reporting and checklist guidelines; 
mitigating actions have been put in place at the CCG and assurances provided to the 
HSCIC, who have now closed the case down.  A second incident arose at practice 
level linked to the SIRI reported incident which was addressed by the Caldicott 
Guardian. The remaining five incidents were all categorised as minor, no harm. 
Statement of Disclosure to Auditors 
Each individual who is a member of the CCG at the time the Members’ Report is approved 
confirms: 

• So far as the member is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the 
CCG’s auditor is unaware that would be relevant for the purposes of their audit report 
 

• The member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken in order to make him 
or herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the CCG’s 
auditor is aware of it. 

 

Modern Slavery Act 
NHS South Tyneside Clinical Commissioning Group fully supports the Government’s 
objectives to eradicate modern slavery and human trafficking but does not meet the 
requirements for producing an annual Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement as set out 
in the Modern Slavery Act 2015. 
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Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities 
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical 
Commissioning Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be 
appointed by the NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England).  NHS England has 
appointed the Chief Officer to be the Accountable Officer of NHS South Tyneside 
Clinical Commissioning Group. 

The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are set out under the National Health 
Service Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in the Clinical 
Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. They include 
responsibilities for: 

• The propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable 
Officer is answerable 

• For keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning 
Group and enable them to ensure that the accounts comply with the 
requirements of the Accounts Direction) 

• For safeguarding the Clinical Commissioning Group’s assets (and hence for 
taking reasonable steps for the prevention  and detection of fraud and other 
irregularities) 

• The relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under Managing Public 
Money 

• Ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and 
economically (in accordance with Section 14Q of the NHS Act 2006 (as 
amended) and with a view to securing continuous improvement in the quality 
of services (in accordance with Section 14R of the NHS Act 2006 (as 
amended) 

• Ensuring that the CCG complies with its financial duties under Sections 223H 
to 223J of the NHS Act 2006 (as amended). 
 

Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has 
directed each Clinical Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year 
financial statements in the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction.  
The financial statements are prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and 
fair view of the state of affairs of the Clinical Commissioning Group and of its net 
expenditure, changes in taxpayers’ equity and cash flows for the financial year. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is required to comply 
with the requirements of the  Group Accounting Manual  issued by the Department of 
Health and in particular to: 
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• Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the 
relevant accounting and disclosure requirements and apply suitable 
accounting policies on a consistent basis 

• Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis 
• State whether applicable accounting standards are set out in the Manual for 

Accounts issued by the Department of Health have been followed and 
disclose and explain any material departures in the financial statements; and  

• Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis. 
 

To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the 
responsibilities set out under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public 
Money and in my Clinical Commissioning Group accountable Officer Appointment 
Letter.  

I also confirm that: 

• as far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the CCG’s 
auditors are aware, and that as Accountable officer, I have taken steps that I 
ought to have taken to make myself aware of any relevant audit information and 
to establish that the CCG’s auditors are aware of that information; 

• the annual report and accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and understandable 
and that I take personal responsibility for the annual report and accounts and the 
judgments required for determining that it is fair, balanced and understandable. 

 

 

Dr David Hambleton 
Accountable Officer  
(Chief Executive) 
25th May 2017 
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Governance Statement  
 

1. Introduction and context 
 
1.1 NHS South Tyneside Clinical Commissioning Group is a body corporate 
established by NHS England on 1 April 2013 under the National Health Service Act 
2006 (as amended).  
 
1.2 The clinical commissioning group’s statutory functions are set out under the 
National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). The CCG’s general function is 
arranging the provision of services for the purposes of the health service in England. 
The CCG is, in particular, required to arrange for the provision of certain health 
services to such extent as it considers necessary to meet the reasonable 
requirements of its local population. 
 
1.3 As at 1 April 2016, the clinical commissioning group is not subject to any 
directions from NHS England issued under Section 14Z21 of the National Health 
Service Act 2006 (as amended).  
 
1.4 The geographical area covered by NHS South Tyneside Clinical Commissioning 
Group is coterminous with the boundary of South Tyneside Metropolitan Borough 
Council and commissions health care on behalf of a population of 156,000.  As a 
membership organisation the CCG comprises 24 practices that make up the 
membership, represented through the Council of Practices. The Governing Body is 
responsible for the day to day governance of the organisation in accordance with the 
delegated functions set out in the CCG’s Constitution. 

2. Scope of responsibility 
  
2.1 As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of 
internal control that supports the achievement of the clinical commissioning group’s 
policies, aims and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for 
which I am personally responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned 
to me in Managing Public Money.  I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out 
in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.  
 
2.2 I am responsible for ensuring that the clinical commissioning group is 
administered prudently and economically and that resources are applied efficiently 
and effectively, safeguarding financial propriety and regularity. I also have 
responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal control within 
the clinical commissioning group as set out in this governance statement. 
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3. Governance arrangements and effectiveness 
 
3.1. The Clinical Commissioning Group Governance Framework 
 
3.1.1 The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), at paragraph 14L (2) (b) 
states: 
“The main function of the governing body is to ensure that the group has made 
appropriate arrangements for ensuring that it exercises its functions effectively, 
efficiently and economically and complies with such generally accepted principles of 
good governance as are relevant to it.” 
 
3.1.2 The CCG has a Constitution based on the Department of Health’s Model 
Template that has been amended and approved to take into account subsequent 
guidance. Review of the CCG’s Constitution confirms that it complies with the 
elements of the self-certification checklist, including: 
 

• specifying the arrangements made by the CCG for the discharge of its 
functions; 

• specifying the arrangements made by the CCG for the discharge of the 
functions of the governing body; 

• the procedures to be followed by the CCG in making decisions; 
• the arrangements it has made to secure that individuals to whom health 

services are being or may be provided pursuant to its commissioning 
arrangements are involved; 

• arrangements made by the CCG for discharging its duties in respect of 
registers of interests and management of conflicts of interests; 

• arrangements made by the CCG for ensuring that there is transparency about 
the decisions of the group and the manner in which they are made; 

• Detailed Financial Policies and Scheme of Delegation. 
 

In keeping with the Clinical Commissioning Group as a membership organisation, 
there is an established Council of Practices which has reserved a limited number of 
matters to itself (as  specified in the CCG’s Scheme of Reservation and Delegation) 
having delegated the majority of functions and duties of the CCG through means of 
the Constitution to the Governing Body. The Council of Practices met on four 
occasions in 2016/17.  
 
3.1.3 During 2016/17, the Governing Body met on six occasions in public for which 
there was an annual cycle of business.  Agendas were structured to enable the 
Governing Body to deal with the range of its responsibilities including strategic, 
performance, quality assurance, risk and governance matters. The arrangements 
reflect the public service values of accountability, probity and openness and specify 
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as Chief Officer my responsibility for ensuring that these values are met within the 
Clinical Commissioning Group. 

3.1.4 A schedule of Governing Body and Governing Body Committee membership 
together with attendance record for 2016/17 is set out below: 

Figure 1: Governing Body and Committee Meetings Attendance Record 

 South Tyneside Clinical Commissioning Group 
Members’ Attendance Record 
2016/17 

Name Title 
Audit & 
Risk 
Committee 

Quality & 
Patient 
Safety 
Committee 

Governing 
Body  

Remuneration 
Committee 

Dr 
Matthew 
Walmsley 

Chair 

 4 of 6 7 of 7 1 of 2 

Dr David 
Hambleton 

Chief Executive 

 5 of 6 7 of 7  

Mr 
Stephen 
Clark 

Lay 
Member/Deputy 
Chair 4 of 5 6 of 6 7 of 7 2 of 2 

Dr Tarquin 
Cross 

Secondary 
Care 
Consultant  5 of 6 5 of 7  

Mrs 
Christine 
Briggs 

Director of 
Operations 

  7 of 7  
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3.1.5 The Clinical Commissioning Group has operated throughout the year with a 
committee structure which meets statutory guidance and reflects best practice, 
including Remuneration Committee, Audit & Risk Committee, Quality & Patient 
Safety Committee and Executive Committee. In addition, there was a Joint Primary 
Care Committee which is a joint committee of NHS England and NHS South 
Tyneside CCG with the primary purpose of collaboratively commissioning primary 

Mrs Ann 
Fox 

Director of 
Nursing, Quality 
and Safety 
(until  August 
2016) 

 3 of 3 2 of 3  

Mrs 
Jeanette 
Scott 
Thomas 

Director of 
Nursing, Quality 
and Safety 
(from 22 August 
2016) 

 5 of 6 5 of 7  

Mr Jeff 
Gosling 

Lay Member 
4 of 5 6 of 6 6 of 7 2 of 2 

Ms Kate 
Hudson 

Chief Finance 
Officer   7 of 7  

Mr Paul 
Morgan 

Lay Member 
5 of 5  7 of 7 2 of 2 

Dr Vis 
Nathan 

Elected GP 
Member  5 of 6 4 of 7 1 of 2 

Ms 
Amanda 
Healy 

Director of 
Public Health 
(Non-Voting 
Member of 
Governing 
Body) 

  6 of 7  

Mr John 
Pearce 
(from 
March 
2016) 

Corporate 
Director of 
Children, Adults 
& Health (Non – 
Voting Member 
of Governing 
Body) 

  2 of 7  
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care medical services for the people of South Tyneside. Arrangements were made in 
year to assume delegated commissioning responsibilities for primary care services. 
The organisational structure including key committees is set out below: 

Figure 2: CCG and Governing Body Committee Structure 

 

3.1.6 Description of the established Governing Body Committees 

3.1.6.1 The roles of each of the Governing Body Committees are set out broadly 
below.  The Governing Body Committees have authority under the Scheme of 
Reservation and Delegation to establish sub committees or sub groups to enable 
them to fulfill their role.  Each of the Governing Body Committees has detailed Terms 
of Reference which are made available on the CCG’s website. Each Committee is 
authorised by the Governing Body to pursue any activity within their Terms of 
Reference and within the Scheme of Reservation and Delegation.   

3.1.6.2 Remuneration Committee 

The Committee is established to advise on and recommend to the Governing Body 
the appropriate remuneration and terms of service for the Chief Officer and other 
staff paid through the Very Senior Manager Pay Framework. The Committee also 
advises on and makes recommendations to the Governing Body on the 
remuneration for the role of Chair, remuneration and terms of service of any 
independent lay members and Clinical Directors and reviews any business cases for 
early retirement and redundancy. The Committee’s terms of reference are 
referenced within the CCG’s Constitution and are available on the CCG’s website. 
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3.1.6.3 Audit & Risk Committee 

In line with the requirements of the NHS Audit Committee Handbook and NHS 
Codes of Conduct and Accountability, the Committee provides the organisation with 
an independent and objective review of their financial systems, financial information 
and compliance with laws, guidance, and regulations governing the NHS. The 
Committee reviews the establishment and maintenance of an effective system of 
integrated governance, risk management and internal control, across the whole of 
the organisation’s activities. An annual Counter Fraud Plan is agreed by the 
Committee which focuses on the deterrence, prevention, detection and investigation 
of fraud. The Committee is a non-executive committee of the Governing Body and 
has no executive powers, other than those specifically delegated in its terms of 
reference. Annually the Committee also carries out a self-assessment of its 
effectiveness. The Committee’s terms of reference are referenced within the CCG’s 
Constitution and are available on the CCG’s website. 

The Audit & Risk Committee as part of its terms of reference provides an Annual 
Report of its work to the Governing Body. The most recent report covers the year 
2016/17. The principal purpose of the report is to give the Board an assurance as to 
the work carried out to support the Accountable Officer’s review of the internal 
control arrangements. The Committee’s cycle of business enables the Audit & Risk 
Committee to carry out its key objectives necessary to support its assurances 
regarding the effectiveness of the organisation’s internal controls.  

In accordance with the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014, the Audit and Risk 
Committee has also taken on the responsibility for the appointment of external 
auditors as an Auditor Panel. 

3.1.6.4 Quality & Patient Safety Committee 

The principal purpose of the Quality & Patient Safety Committee is to ensure that the 
appropriate governance systems and processes are in place to commission, monitor 
and ensure the delivery of high quality safe patient care in commissioned services 
and to facilitate, monitor and ensure quality improvement in general medical practice 
working with the NHS England. The Committee’s terms of reference are referenced 
within the CCG’s Constitution and are available on the CCG’s website. 

Significantly, during the year through its cycle of business, the Committee and its 
associated sub-committees have considered a number of quality and patient safety 
matters including monitoring provider quality and patient safety performance using a 
range of metrics. The committee has also considered a number of safeguarding 
issues and reviewed learning from Serious Case Reviews.  In addition, the 
committee has reviewed assurance reports regarding quality of care in nursing 
homes, medicines optimisation, CQUIN schemes (Commissioning for Quality and 
Innovation), etc. The Committee has produced a detailed report for the Governing 
Body providing details of the work it has undertaken in 2016/17. 
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3.1.6.5 Executive Committee 

The Executive Committee is responsible for delivery of the CCG’s overall 
management, to support the CCG to work efficiently, effectively and economically, 
ensuring clinical engagement and promoting the involvement of all member practices 
in the work of the CCG in securing improvements in commissioning of care and 
services. The committee ensures best practice in its decision making, and in 
particular ensures that decisions are based on clear and transparent criteria. The 
Committee has delegated authority to commit expenditure according to the CCG’s 
Scheme of Reservation and Delegation. 

3.1.6.6 Joint Primary Care Committee 

Throughout the year, the CCG operated with a Joint Primary Care Committee which 
is a joint committee of NHS England and NHS South Tyneside CCG formed with the 
primary purpose of co- commissioning primary medical services for the people of 
South Tyneside with the CCG operating at Level 2 (i.e. co-commissioning with NHS 
England). The Joint Committee has been constituted in accordance with NHS 
England guidance and comprises membership of NHS England (Cumbria and North 
East). In accordance with guidance and in order to avoid any conflicts of interests it 
is chaired by a Lay Member of the CCG and meets in public. Application was made 
in year to progress to Level 3 primary care commissioning (i.e. delegated 
commissioning) with effect from 1 April 2017. 

3.1.6.7 Other Joint Committees 

Although provided in its Constitution, the CCG has not entered into any formal joint 
committees but has engaged with other CCGs and partners in South Tyneside, 
including the Health and Wellbeing Board and a number of its sub-committees such 
as its Integration Board. In addition, the CCG has entered into joint arrangements 
with the CCGs in the North of England to determine commissioning for health gain 
policies and to review and approve individual funding requests, including conducting 
an appeals process. There is also a partnership based systems Resilience Group in 
place within the area; its purpose to ensure system flow and resilience across the 
year. 

3.2 Review and assessment of Board Effectiveness, including the UK Corporate 
Governance Code (2014) 

NHS bodies are not required to comply with the UK Corporate Governance Code. 
However, we have reported on our Corporate Governance arrangements by drawing 
upon best practice available, including those aspects of the UK Corporate 
Governance Code we consider to be relevant to the CCG together with other best 
practice. The guidance contained within the Code has enabled a detailed review of 
Governing Body effectiveness against the following criteria – leadership, 
effectiveness, accountability, remuneration and relations with stakeholders. This was 
undertaken at a dedicated session of the Governing Body at which compliance with 
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the Code was reviewed. In year, the Governing Body also took the opportunity as 
part of its development to review and feedback on the effectiveness of each of its 
meetings using a standard template and criteria including evidence of constructive 
challenge, evidence of contributions beyond member disciplines, behaviour, pace 
and enthusiasm, etc.  In particular, having reviewed the effectiveness of the CCG’s 
governance framework and arrangements in relation to The UK Corporate Code of 
Governance (2014), I consider that the organisation complies with the principles and 
standards of best practice contained within the Code. 

3.3 Discharge of Statutory Functions 
 
3.3.1 During establishment, the arrangements put in place by the clinical 
commissioning group and explained within the Corporate Governance Framework 
were developed with extensive expert external legal input, to ensure compliance with 
the all relevant legislation. That legal advice also informed the matters reserved for 
Membership Body and Governing Body decision and the scheme of delegation. 

3.3.2 In light of the Harris Review, the clinical commissioning group has reviewed all 
of the statutory duties and powers conferred on it by the National Health Service Act 
2006 (as amended) and other associated legislative and regulations. As a result, I 
can confirm that the clinical commissioning group is clear about the legislative 
requirements associated with each of the statutory functions for which it is 
responsible, including any restrictions on delegation of those functions. 

3.3.3 Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead 
Director. 

Directorates have confirmed that their structures provide the necessary capability 
and capacity to undertake all of the clinical commissioning group’s statutory duties. 

4. Risk management arrangements and effectiveness 
 
4.1   The Clinical Commissioning Group Risk Management Framework  
 
4.1.1 A Risk Management Framework is in place which takes into account current 
guidance on risk management best practice and incorporates guidance provided by 
ISO 31000:2009 (formerly AZ/NZ Standard 4360:2004) and the former National 
Patient Safety Agency in its approach to assessing risk. 
 
4.1.2 The Risk Management Framework sets out the CCG’s approach to the 
assessment and management of clinical and non-clinical risk in fulfilment of its 
overall objective to commission high quality and safe services. It provides guidance 
for the systematic and effective management of risk. Key elements of the Risk 
Management Framework include: 
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• a clear statement of governing body and individual accountability for delivery 
of the framework 

• clear principles, aims and objectives of the risk management process 
• a clearly defined process for delivering the framework including an 

implementation plan to ensure that the framework and risk management 
awareness is communicated to all staff 

• details of the approach to be undertaken to assess and report risk 
• an agreed process for reporting, managing, analysing and learning from 

adverse events supported by a “fair blame” culture and approach 
• confirmation of the arrangements for reporting risk through the risk register 

 
4.1.3 Risk is identified and embedded in the organisation via a number of 
mechanisms including the incident reporting system which identifies the risks that 
have already (or nearly) occurred from incidents or near misses; through our 
strategic planning system which ensures that all organisational objectives are rated 
for risks to achievement of delivery; and in our performance management system 
which rates all objectives for risk to delivery. There is a detailed Risk Register which 
is populated by all Executive Directors and regularly reviewed and updated. The 
Audit and Risk Committee reviews the Risk Register at each of its meetings. In 
addition, Governing Body reports are assessed for equality impact. Previously in a 
development session the Governing Body also explored its risk appetite relative to 
the type of decisions that it needed to make. 
 
4.1.4 A Governing Body Assurance Framework (AF) has been developed and 
approved by the Governing Body.  The Assurance Framework was reviewed at a 
Governing Body development session when it was mapped to current strategic 
objectives, and has been subsequently reviewed and updated following 
consideration at meetings of the Audit & Risk Committee and Governing Body. It has 
continued to be updated as further assurance has been provided and the impact of 
controls realised. It is mapped to the detailed Risk Register. The Assurance 
Framework enables the Governing Body to be aware of the risks to delivery of the 
organisation’s principal objectives and to ensure that effective controls and 
assurance are in place.  
 
4.1.5 Through the CCG’s Communications and Engagement Strategy the CCG has 
delivered a broad range of engagement and involvement activities including 
engagement events and public meetings. Patients and local people were engaged 
around experiences of gynaecology, obstetrics, orthopaedics and stroke services at 
South Tyneside Foundation Trust as part of the pre-engagement work for the Path to 
Excellence programme. The CCG continues to attend and present regular updates 
at local groups in the borough, for example bi-monthly updates to HealthNet (an 
umbrella organisation for third sector organisations with an interest in health).  The 
CCG Patient Reference Group, with members from local practices, meets bi-
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monthly; the agenda is set by the group and has included updates on the STFT CQC 
report, updates from CCG Clinical Directors, involvement in a piece of work around 
hospital discharge and a report on the work of NEAS. Patient stories continue to be 
collected to ensure patient and carer experiences are heard by the CCG; a patient 
story is presented, by a patient or carer, at the monthly Quality and Patient Safety 
Committee.  A number of patient stories were collected from patients and carers 
regarding experiences of COPD services in South Tyneside, with a report presented 
to the Quality and Patient Safety Committee, to help inform a review of the COPD 
pathway.  Patient stories also helped inform the work on the review of the hospital 
discharge pathway.  The CCG is in the third year of a partnership with a local 
Community College through the Business in the Community programme. Events at 
the school have included mock interviews with Year 10 students; ‘Talk to Us’ a 
lesson on accessing GP practice services with Year 8 students; and a health 
morning for Year 7 students, with a programme for 2017 having been agreed with 
the college. 
 
4.1.6 Our anti-fraud activity plays a key part in deterring risks to the organisation’s 
financial viability and probity. An annual Anti-Fraud Plan is agreed by the Audit & 
Risk Committee which focuses on the deterrence, prevention, detection and 
investigation of fraud. The CCG is also an active participant in the national counter 
fraud initiative. 
 
4.2. Risk Assessment in Relation to Governance, Risk Management & Internal 
Control 

4.2.1 The risk management system has been implemented in accordance with 
agreed policy by the Director of Operations supported by the Operations and 
Engagement Manager, with expert input from the Commissioning Support 
Unit.   Additionally, the Chief Officer’s Scheme of Delegation clearly sets out the 
individual level responsibilities held at Director level in relation to risk management.  

4.2.2 The CCG’s integrated approach to risk management ensures that all risks are 
captured and monitored relating to quality and safeguarding, provider management, 
finance & QIPP and performance across the organisation. 

4.2.3 Current and potential risks are captured in the CCG’s risk register and include 
actions and timescales identified to minimise such risks. In accordance with local 
policy, the risk register is a log of risks that threaten the organisation’s success in 
achieving its aims and objectives and is populated through a risk assessment and 
evaluation process.  

4.3  In-year risks 

Significant corporate risks which the CCG has identified and which it has continued 

to mitigate through its management actions are set out below: 
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• Continuing Healthcare (CHC) 
In year pressures have continued in relation to Continuing Healthcare - both in 
terms of delays in the assessment process and expenditure. We continue to 
work closely with the range of CHC providers and agencies across the system 
to streamline pathways and processes. We are currently planning, with 
partners, to implement more integrated ways of working for CHC, to remove 
barriers between organisations and reduce fragmentation.  

CHC risks continue to feature on the CCG’s risk register and are regularly 
reviewed to assess the impact of mitigating actions 

• A&E 4 hour wait target at South Tyneside NHS Foundation Trust 
Performance against the 95% 4 hour wait standard has varied during the 
year, however, the impact of mitigating actions has seen an overall 
improvement in the position at year end, which places the CCG and its 
partners in a good position for 2017/18 in relation to this standard 

• Safeguarding including Mental Capacity Act and Deprivation of Liberty 
Significant work has been undertaken this year in order to ensure all health 
staff are aware of the implications of the Care Act in particular in relation to 
the Mental Capacity Act/Deprivation of Liberty and to implement changes.  
We continue to review our progress and make necessary improvements as 
required.  Safeguarding by its very nature presents risks and the CCG works 
closely as a strategic partner with both the adult and children’s safeguarding 
Boards to ensure safety of children and adults at risk. The activity of the 
boards and any learning is regularly reported into the QPSC. Additionally, the 
CCG continues to work closely with South Tyneside Foundation Trust in 
specific regard to its safeguarding arrangements following recent CQC 
inspection. 

 

4.4 Future risks  

Financial sustainability 

The CCG recognises that financial sustainability into the future is paramount. In 
recognition, the CCG has worked as part of the Northumberland, Tyne and Wear 
and North Durham footprint to develop a Sustainability and Transformation Plan that 
seeks to address these challenges at a wider scale.  

At CCG level, the efficiency target for 2017/18 is extensive and at a level previously 
unknown to the CCG.  In response, we have created a new architecture taking in a 
Financial Sustainability Programme Board, which in turn reports to the Financial 
Sustainability Executive Group, chaired by a lay member.  This group is accountable 
to the Audit and Risk Committee.   The QIPP plan for 2017/18-2018/19 is the primary 
focus of this work.   
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Primary medical services commissioning  

From 1st April 2017 the CCG will assume delegated responsibility from NHS England 
for the above. This is a new area of work for the CCG and may bring risks in terms of 
capacity to deliver.  The CCG is working closely with NHSE around this. 

4.5 Risks to compliance with the CCG’s licence 

No risks have been identified to compliance with the CCG’s licence.  The CCG was 
licensed without any conditions attached to its authorisation.  During 2016/2017 
performance of the CCG and compliance with its licence has been assessed by the 
Area Team in line with NHS England’s CCG Improvement and Assessment 
Framework.  The CCG has been assured as good for well-led organisation, finance, 
planning and performance throughout 16/17.  The CCG await the final year end 
assessment from NHS England. 

4.6 Capacity to handle risk 

4.6.1 As Accountable Officer I have overall responsibility for: 

• ensuring the implementation of an effective Risk Management Framework, 
including effective risk management systems and internal controls 

• the development of the corporate governance and assurance framework 
• meeting all the statutory requirements and ensuring positive performance 

towards our strategic objectives. 
 
4.6.2 Each of the directors of the CCG is responsible for; 

• co-ordinating operational risk in their specific areas in accordance with the 
Risk Management Framework 

• ensuring that all areas of risk are assessed appropriately and action taken 
to implement improvements 

• ensuring that staff under their management are aware of their risk 
management responsibilities in relation to the Risk Management 
Framework 

• incorporating risk management as a management technique within the 
performance management arrangements for the organisation. 

 

4.6.3 All Managers within the CCG are responsible for implementing the risk 
management framework within their span of control and for ensuring that staff 
understand and apply the relevant framework in relation to risk management. All staff 
within the CCG are responsible for assisting in the implementation of the Risk 
Management Framework and for highlighting any areas of risk through the incident 
reporting procedures, a principal means through which the CCG manages risk and 
learns lessons.  
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5. Other sources of assurance 
 

5.1. The Clinical Commissioning Group Internal Control Framework  
A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the 
clinical commissioning group to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives. It 
is designed to identify and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks 
being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them 
efficiently, effectively and economically. The system of internal control allows risk to 
be managed to a reasonable level rather than eliminating all risk; it can therefore 
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system of 
internal control has been in place in the CCG for the year ended 31 March 2017 and 
up to the date of approval of the Annual Report and Accounts. 

5.2 Annual audit of conflicts of interests management 

The revised statutory guidance on Managing Conflicts of Interest for CCGs 
(published June 2016) requires CCGs to undertake an annual internal audit of 
conflicts of interest management.  To support CCGs to undertake this task, NHS 
England has published a template audit framework.  The CCG updated its Conflicts 
of Interest and Standards of Business Conduct Policies which were subsequently 
approved by the Governing Body. In accordance with the requirements of the 
guidance the Governing Body appointed the Lay Chair of the Audit & Governance 
Committee as its Conflicts of Interest Guardian. Furthermore, the CCG has also 
ensured that an annual audit of conflicts of interest management has been carried 
out based on the published audit framework template and which concluded an audit 
opinion of substantial. 

5.3    Information Governance 

5.3.1 The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and 
procedures by which the NHS handles information about patients and employees, in 
particular personal identifiable information. The NHS Information Governance 
Framework is supported by an information governance toolkit and the annual 
submission process provides assurances to the clinical commissioning group, other 
organisations and to individuals that personal information is dealt with legally, 
securely, efficiently and effectively. 

5.3.2 The CCG has an Information Governance Framework in place comprising an 
approved Strategy, a suite of approved policies and procedures, a programme of 
mandatory training, information risk management, incident management and has 
also adopted and implemented the  Health and Social Care Information Centre’s 
(HSCIC), ‘Checklist for Reporting, Managing and Investigating Information 
Governance and Cyber Security Serious Incidents Requiring Investigation’.  

5.3.3 The organisation has in place a standard operating procedure for the reporting 
of level 2 Information Governance incidents to the Information Commissioner. This 
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procedure outlines the scope of responsibilities and details the reporting procedures 
to be used in the event of a data security breach. Seven information governance 
incidents were reported by the CCG in 2016/17. Five incidents were generated by 
external organisations, four of which were CCG member practices.  One of the 
incidents that originated from a member practice was compounded by inadvertent 
actions of CCG staff and required reporting as a SIRI via the CCG IG Toolkit using 
the HSCIC SIRI reporting and checklist guidelines; mitigating actions have been put 
in place at the CCG and assurances provided to the HSCIC, who have now closed 
the case down.  A second incident arose at practice level linked to the SIRI reported 
incident which was addressed by the Caldicott Guardian. The remaining five 
incidents were all categorised as minor, no harm. 

5.3.4 Information Governance forms part of the agenda of the Quality & Patient 
Safety Committee which reports to the Governing Body. The CCG has also 
appointed a Caldicott Guardian (Dr Matthew Walmsley) and Senior Information Risk 
Owner (Dr David Hambleton). 

5.3.5 Each year the CCG submits compliance scores to the Health and Social Care 
Information Centre using the NHS Information Governance Toolkit. The toolkit is an 
online system which allows NHS organisations and partners to assess themselves 
against DH information governance policies and standards. It also allows members 
of the public to view our progress on improving our information governance 
standards. The CCG’s Information Governance Toolkit overall score for 2016/17 was 
73% and graded as an overall green rating.  

5.3.6 The CCG complies with its statutory duty to respond to requests for 
information. During the year the CCG received requests under the Freedom of 
Information Act 2000. All the requests were responded to within the statutory 
timescales. 

5.4 Data Quality 

5.4.1 The NECS Data Management service have processes and systems in place to 
assess the quality and completeness of data managed on behalf of the CCG. Data is 
checked at all stages of processing through CSU (Commissioning Support Unit) 
systems and finally on publication of reports/analysis. Data is compared against 
historic and planned levels to provide assurance on completeness as well as with 
peer organisations in the form of benchmarking analysis. 

5.4.2 Processes are in place to raise any data quality issues with providers on a 
monthly basis – feedback from these challenges is utilised to alter any processing 
routines as required. The CCG utilises contract levers where necessary to ensure 
high quality data is captured at source and to minimise any updating of data once 
received by commissioners. Reconciliation accounts for each contract highlight any 
discrepancies between provider and commissioner data that are then investigated 
and resolved.  
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5.4.3 Significant validation steps are in place in all routine data processing tasks to 
ensure poor quality data is not made available for analysis and then subsequently 
used as the basis for commissioning decisions. 

5.4.4 On the basis that reports presented to the Governing Body have been through 
this process, the Governing Body finds the quality of data presented acceptable. 

5.5 Business Critical models 

5.5.1 The CCG is aware of the quality assurance requirements in respect of 
business critical models contained within the recommendations in the Macpherson 
report.  The Commissioning Support Unit holds all the business critical models that 
are used by the CCG. The CCG has received assurance that an appropriate 
framework and environment is in place to provide quality assurance of business 
critical models, in line with the recommendations in the Macpherson report. This 
assurance covers the period 1 April 2016 to February28 2017 with a management 
letter from The North of England Commissioning Support Unit covering March 2017.  

5.5.2 Further assurance has been given that all business critical models have been 
identified and that information relating to the quality assurance processes for those 
models is available to the Analytical Oversight Committee chaired by the Chief 
Analyst in the Department of Health, as appropriate. 

5.6 Third Party Assurances 

• Payroll: The CCG payroll service is provided by Northumbria Healthcare NHS 
Foundation Trust. No issues of concern have been raised during the year.  The 
assurance letter for 2016-17 was received on 9th May 2017 covering the 
following areas; pensions, payroll, maternity pay, expenses and governance.  All 
areas reviewed received an assurance level of substantial with no issues of note.  
 

• North of England Commissioning Support Service (NECS): During 2016/17 
the CCG identified the receipt of adequate assurances from the Commissioning 
Support Unit (NECS) as a key risk.   
 

For 2016/17 it was agreed that Deloitte LLP would provide two ISAE 3402 
reports; the first covering the period 1 March 2016 to 31 August 2016 and the 
second covering the period 1 September 2016 to 28 February 2017.  In addition a 
letter of representation was provided by NECS covering March 2017.  
 
The provision of the reports and letter of representation for the full year gave 
additional assurance to the CCG’s External Auditors and reduced the amount of 
substantive testing undertaken by them as part of the annual accounts audit. 
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The first report was received by the CCG in December 2016 and reviewed at the 
Audit & Risk Committee.  The report identified a small number of relatively minor 
control objectives that were not achieved in the period.   
 
The second report was received on 28th April 2017 and identified four areas of 
exception, none of which was material.  There was one area of repeated failure 
relating to authorisation of healthcare purchase orders; NECS has now put in 
place further controls to address this weakness.  
 
The letter of representation from NECS was also received on 28th April 2017 and 
details the actions being taken by NECS to address the areas of exception. 
 

• NHS Business Services Authority (BSA): The CCG relies on the BSA for 
prescribing spend reporting. There were no significant issues reported in year in 
relation to any internal control issues at the BSA affecting the provision of the 
service to the CCG.  

 
5.7 Data Security 

5.7.1 The CCG has published the HSCIC Information Governance Toolkit and has 
self-assessed as being level 2 overall compliant, which confirms the organisation’s 
rating as overall ‘satisfactory’ in this regard.  

5.7.2 There were no data security breaches of a serious rating identified in 2016/17.  

5.7.3 NECS as the provider of IT services to the CCG has a range of controls in 
place.  Control objectives include: physical access, logical access, segregation of 
duties, data transmissions, data centre environmental controls, IT processing, data 
integrity and backups, change management procedures, network security measures, 
data migration, problem and incident resolution, system recovery and disaster 
recovery plans.  Assurance is provided to the CCG on the effectiveness of these 
controls through the AAF01/06 (service auditor) report produced by Deloitte LLP 
which confirms that all IT controls described above are ‘operating effectively’. 

6. Control Issues 
 

The CCG did not identify any control issues within the Month 09 Governance 
Statement return and no issues have arisen subsequently that require additional 
reporting in this Annual Governance Statement. 

7. Review of Economy, Efficiency and Effectiveness of the Use of 
Resources  
 

7.1 The CCG developed a balanced financial plan for the year 2016/17 which 
included holding 0.5% contingency, use of 1.0% of allocation on a non-recurrent 
basis, and delivery of 1.0% surplus.  Within the plan the CCG also set a savings 
programme. Each meeting of the Executive Committee and of the Governing Body 
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received a finance report detailing performance against plan.  In addition, the Audit & 
Risk Committee met informally to discuss finance issues on a monthly basis.   

7.2 Throughout the commissioning round for 2016/17 all major contracts were 
reviewed and where possible contractual efficiencies were pursued. During 2016/17 
a full review of all CCG expenditure was undertaken and reported to the Audit & Risk 
Committee. 

7.3 The CCG also engaged with North of England Commissioning Support (NECS) 
Unit in ensuring that where benchmarking information was available it was used to 
compare CCG performance to other areas both locally and nationally and this was 
fed into contractual discussions and forward planning.   

7.4 A review of financial planning and savings programme is included within the 
CCG Internal Audit work programme.   

7.5 As part of their annual audit, the CCG’s external auditors are required to satisfy 
themselves that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in the use of its resources.  They do this by examining 
documentary evidence and through discussions with senior managers. Their audit 
work is made available to and reviewed by the Audit & Risk Committee. 
 
7.6 The CCG has been rated as ‘Good’ for the Quality of Leadership indicator of the 
CCG Improvement and Assessment Framework during 2016/17 with the latest 
available results on MyNHS. The CCG awaits the final year end assessment from 
NHS England, which will be available from July 2017 at www.nhs.uk/service-
search/scorecard/results/1175.   
 
7.7 Delegation of functions 
 
The CCG has delegated decision-making on an aspect of its expenditure through a 
pooled funding arrangement with South Tyneside Metropolitan Borough Council - the 
Better Care Fund.  Additionally, separate pooled arrangements exist in relation to 
NHS Continuing Healthcare, Funded Nursing Care and Personal Health Budgets, as 
well as an integrated budget and risk share arrangement for Learning Disabilities.  
Governance processes have been clearly outlined in a formal agreement and control 
of resources remains within the CCG. The CCG interfaces with the Council on these 
arrangements in a range of ways, e.g. at officer level, at director level, and at 
Committee level, in particular via the Joint Commissioning meeting and the 
Partnership and Integration Business meeting.  

7.8 Counter fraud arrangements 
 
The CCG ensures that it adheres to the NHS Protect Standards for Commissioners: 
Fraud, Bribery and Corruption. 
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• An Accredited Counter Fraud Specialist is contracted to undertake counter 
fraud work proportionate to identified risks.    

• The CCG Audit and Risk Committee agrees the annual counter fraud work 
plan and receives counter fraud reporting against the plan.  The Counter 
Fraud specialist is invited to attend Audit & risk Committee.   

• The Chief Finance Officer is the executive lead for proactively and 
demonstrably tackling fraud, bribery and corruption. 

• Appropriate action is taken regarding any NHS Protect quality assurance 
recommendations. 

8.  Head of Internal Audit Opinion 
 
Following completion of the planned audit work for the clinical commissioning group, 
the Head of Internal Audit issued an independent and objective opinion on the 
adequacy and effectiveness of the clinical commissioning group’s system of risk 
management, governance and internal control.  The Head of Internal Audit Opinion 
contributes to the assurances available to the Accountable Officer and the Governing 
Body which underpin the Governing Body’s own assessment of the effectiveness of 
the CCG’s system of internal control.  It is acknowledged that the opinion does not 
imply that Internal Audit have reviewed all risks and assurances relating to the 
organisation.  The opinion is substantially derived from the conduct of risk based 
plans, generated from a robust and organisation-led Assurance Framework.  It 
concludes that:  

“The Head of Internal Audit Opinion 

The purpose of my annual Head of Internal Audit Opinion is to contribute to the 
assurances available to the Accountable Officer and the Governing Body which 
underpins the organisation’s own assessment of the effectiveness of the system of 
internal control. This Opinion will in turn assist in the completion of the Annual 
Governance Statement. 
The overall opinion is that: 

 

The basis for forming my opinion is as follows: 

The basis for forming my opinion is as follows: 
 

• An assessment of the design and operation of the underpinning Assurance 
Framework and supporting processes for governance and the management of 
risk; 

• An assessment of the range of individual opinions arising from audit 
assignments, contained within risk-based plans that have been reported 
throughout the year. This assessment has taken account of the relative 
materiality of these areas and management’s progress in respect of 
addressing control weaknesses; 

From my review of your systems of internal control, I am providing 
substantial assurance that the system of internal control has been 
effectively designed to meet the organisation’s objectives, and that 
controls are being consistently applied. 
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• Brought forward Internal Audit assurances; 
• An assessment of the organisation’s response to Internal Audit 

recommendations, and 
• Consideration of significant factors outside the work of Internal Audit. 

 

The commentary contained as part of my opinion provides the context for my opinion 
and together with the opinion should be read in its entirety.  It provides commentary 
on each of the opinion areas described above.” 

The outcome of the assurance audit reports from the 2016/17 audit plan are 
summarised below. 

Twelve reports have been issued with significant assurance given for all reports. 

I would like to take this opportunity to thank the staff at NHS South Tyneside CCG 
for the co-operation and assistance provided to my team during the year.  

Stuart Fallowfield 
Director of Internal Audit 
AuditOne 
 
19 May 2017  
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Audit area  Assurance Framework Reference Assurance 
Substanti

al 
Good Reasonabl

e 
Limited 

CORE AREAS 
STCCG 2017/01: Assurance 
Framework and Risk Management 

Risk 2.3: Making Best Use of Resources: 
Commissioner. 

√    

STCCG 2017/03: Conflicts of Interest Risk 2.3: Making Best Use of Resources: 
Commissioner. 

√    

STCCG 2017/05: Performance 
Framework 
 

Risk 1.5: Ensuring System Resilience 
 
Risk 3.1: To Ensure the Quality and 
Safety Provider Services 

√    

STCCG 2017/07: Provider Contract 
Monitoring (draft) 

Risk 2.3: Making Best Use of Resources: 
Commissioner. 

√    

STCCG 2017/12: Financial 
Planning/Budgetary Control (Including 
QIPP) 
 

Risk 2.1: Making the Best Use of 
Resources: Provision of Services 
 
Risk 2.2: Making the Best Use of 
Resources: System-Wide 
 
Risk 2.3: Making Best Use of Resources: 
Commissioner. 

√    

STCCG 2017/13: Financial Systems  Risk 2.3: Making Best Use of Resources: 
Commissioner. 

√    

STCCG 2017/14: Information 
Governance 

Risk 1.4: Using Technology and IT 
Systems to Ensure Better Integration of 
Care Delivery 

√    

RISK BASED AUDITS 
STCCG 2017/02: Communications and 
Engagement  

Risk 3.4: Ensure that when 
patients/people are involved with services 
they have a good experience and are 
able to influence the services provided. 

√    
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Audit area  Assurance Framework Reference Assurance 
Substanti

al 
Good Reasonabl

e 
Limited 

STCCG 2017/04: Delivering the 
Strategic Priorities/Commissioning 
Intentions 
 

Risk 2.1: Making the Best Use of 
Resources: Provision of Services 
 
Risk 2.2: Making the Best Use of 
Resources: System-Wide 
 
Risk 2.3: Making Best Use of Resources: 
Commissioner. 
 
Risk 3.1: Ensure the quality and safety 
provider services. 

√    

STCCG 2017/06: Primary Care Co-
Commissioning  
 

Risk 2.1: Making the Best Use of 
Resources: Provision of Services. 
 
Risk 2.2: Making the Best Use of 
Resources: System-Wide. 

√    

STCCG 2017/08: Safeguarding 
Arrangements 

Risk 3.3: Ensure that all children and 
vulnerable adults are safe. 

√    

STCCG 2017/10: Better Care 
Fund/Vanguard Arrangements  

Risk 2.2: Making the Best Use of 
Resources: System-Wide. 

√    

 Totals 12 0 0 0 
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9 Review of Effectiveness 
 
9.1 My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the 
work of the internal auditors and the executive managers and clinical leads within the 
clinical commissioning group who have responsibility for the development and 
maintenance of the internal control framework. I have drawn on performance 
information available to me. I have been advised on the implications of the result of 
my review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control by the Governing 
Body, the Audit & Risk Committee and the Quality & Patient Safety Committee and a 
plan to address weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of the system is in 
place.   This takes the form of a range of performance reports and reports that 
identify mitigating actions in relation to identified risks. 
 
9.2 The Assurance Framework itself provides me with evidence that the 
effectiveness of controls that manage risks to the clinical commissioning group 
achieving its principal objectives have been reviewed 
 
9.3 As part of the CCGs risk management processes, an Assurance Framework has 
been in place throughout the year which provides a simple yet comprehensive 
method for the effective and focussed management of the principal risks and 
assurances to meeting and delivering the CCG’s objectives. The Assurance 
Framework reflects the principal risks associated with the delivery of the CCGs 
strategic objectives.  This includes risks around the delivery of the CCGs strategic 
aims, and financial stability. The Assurance Framework details the key controls and 
assurances in place against each risk, together with any relevant action being taken 
to address gaps in controls and assurances where required.  

9.4 The Assurance Framework is complemented by detailed risk registers that 
record the full comprehensive list of all risks facing the CCG at an operational and 
strategic level.  There have been no significant issues that have revealed 
deficiencies as risks have materialised. 

10. Conclusion 
In conclusion, my review confirms that the CCG has had a generally sound system 
of internal controls in place that supported the achievement of its policies, aims and 
objectives.  

 
 
Dr David Hambleton 
Accountable Officer (Chief Executive) 
25th May 2017 
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Report by the Auditors to the Members of the CCG 
Independent auditor’s report to the Governing Body of NHS South Tyneside 
Clinical Commissioning group 
 
We have audited the financial statements of NHS South Tyneside CCG for the year 
ended 31 March 2017 under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. The 
financial statements comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, the 
Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity, the 
Statement of Cash Flows, and the related notes. The financial reporting framework 
that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union, and as 
interpreted and adapted by the Department of Health Group Accounting Manual 
2016-17 and the Accounts Direction issued by the NHS Commissioning Board with 
the approval of the Secretary of State as relevant to the National Health Service in 
England (the Accounts Direction).  
 
We have also audited the information in the Remuneration and Staff Report that is 
described as being subject to audit. 
  
This report is made solely to the members of the Governing Body of NHS South 
Tyneside CCG as a body, in accordance with part 5 of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 and as set out in paragraph 43 of the Statement of 
Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies published by Public Sector Audit 
Appointments Limited. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to 
the members of the Governing Body of the CCG those matters we are required to 
state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent 
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the 
Governing Body of the CCG, as a body, for our audit work, for this report or for the 
opinions we have formed.  

Respective responsibilities of the Accountable Officer and auditor  
 
As explained more fully in the Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities, 
the Accountable Officer is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements 
and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view and is also responsible for 
ensuring the regularity of expenditure and income. Our responsibility is to audit and 
express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law 
and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require 
us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. We 
are also responsible for giving an opinion on the regularity of expenditure and 
income in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice prepared by the Comptroller 
and Auditor General as required by the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (the 
"Code of Audit Practice"). 
  
As explained in the Governance Statement, the Accountable officer is responsible for 
the arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of the 
CCG's resources. We are required under Section 21(1)(c) of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 to be satisfied that the CCG has made proper arrangements 
for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. Section 
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21(5)(b) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 requires that our report must 
not contain our opinion if we are satisfied that proper arrangements are in place.  
 
We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the 
CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources are operating effectively. 

Scope of the audit of the financial statements  
 
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. 
This includes assessing:  
• whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the CCG’s circumstances and 

have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed 
• the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the Accountable 

Officer; and  
• the overall presentation of the financial statements.  
 
In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the annual 
report to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to 
identify any information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially 
inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the 
audit. If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or 
inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.  
In addition, we are required to obtain evidence sufficient to give reasonable 
assurance that the expenditure and income reported in the financial statements have 
been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions 
conform to the authorities which govern them.  

Scope of the review of arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in the use of resources  
 
We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, 
having regard to the guidance on the specified criterion issued by the Comptroller 
and Auditor General in November 2016, as to whether the CCG had proper 
arrangements to ensure it took properly informed decisions and deployed resources 
to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people. The 
Comptroller and Auditor General determined this criterion as that necessary for us to 
consider under the Code of Audit Practice in satisfying ourselves whether the CCG 
put in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness 
in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2017. 
  
We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on our 
risk assessment, we undertook such work as we considered necessary to form a 
view on whether, in all significant respects, the CCG had put in place proper 
arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources.  

Opinion on the financial statements  
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In our opinion the financial statements:  
• give a true and fair view of the financial position of NHS South Tyneside CCG as 

at 31 March 2017 and of its net expenditure and income for the year then ended; 
and  

• have been properly prepared in accordance with the Health and Social Care Act 
2012 and the Accounts Directions issued thereunder.  

Opinion on regularity  
 
In our opinion, in all material respects the expenditure and income reflected in the 
financial statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and 
the financial transactions conform to the authorities which govern them.  

Opinion on other matters  
 
In our opinion:  
• the parts of the Remuneration and Staff Report to be audited have been properly 

prepared in accordance with the Annual Report Directions made under the 
National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended by the Health and Social Care Act 
2012); and  

• the other information published together with the audited financial statements in 
the annual report and accounts is consistent with the financial statements. 

Matters on which we report by exception  
 
We are required to report to you if: 
  
• in our opinion the Governance Statement does not comply with the guidance 

issued by NHS England; or  
• we refer a matter to the Secretary of State under section 30 of the Local Audit 

and Accountability Act 2014 because we have reason to believe that the CCG, or 
an officer of the CCG, is about to make, or has made, a decision which involves 
or would involve the body incurring unlawful expenditure, or is about to take, or 
has begun to take a course of action which, if followed to its conclusion, would be 
unlawful and likely to cause a loss or deficiency; or  

• we issue a report in the public interest under section 24, schedule 7 of the Local 
Audit and Accountability Act 2014; or  

• we make a written recommendation to the CCG under section 24, schedule 7 of 
the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014; or  

• we are not satisfied that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 
31 March 2017.  

 
We have nothing to report in these respects.  
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Certificate  
 
We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts of NHS South Tyneside 
CCG in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 
2014 and the Code of Audit Practice.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
Cameron Waddell 
Partner For and on behalf of Mazars LLP  
Salvus House  
Aykley Heads  
Durham  
DH1 5TS  
 
25th May 2017 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

  

61 
 



Remuneration and Staff Report  
 
The remuneration and staff report sets out the organisation’s remuneration policy for 
directors and senior managers, reports on how that policy has been implemented 
and sets out the amounts awarded to directors and senior managers and where 
relevant the link between performance and remuneration. 

Remuneration Report   
Remuneration Committee 
The remuneration committee was established to advise the Governing Body about 
pay, other benefits and terms of employment for the Chief Officer and other senior 
staff. 

The remuneration committee is established in accordance with the CCG’s 
constitution, standing orders and scheme of delegation. The committee membership 
is as follows: 

• Stephen Clark Chair of Remuneration Committee/Lay Member 
• Matthew Walmsley CCG Chair 
• Dr Vis Nathan GP Member of Governing Body 
• Jeff Gosling Governing Body Lay Member 
• Paul Morgan Governing Body Lay Member 

 

The remuneration committee has delegated authority from the Governing Body to 
make recommendations on determinations about pay and remuneration for 
employees of the CCG and people who provide services to the CCG. 

Policy on the remuneration of senior managers  
The remuneration for senior managers for current and future financial years is 
determined in accordance with relevant guidance, best practice and national policy. 
Continuation of employment for all senior managers is subject to satisfactory 
performance. Performance in post and progress in achieving set objectives is 
reviewed annually. 

There were no individual performance review payments made to any senior 
managers during the year and there are no plans to make such payments in future 
years. This is in accordance with standard NHS terms and conditions of service and 
guidance issued by the Department of Health. 

Contracts of employment in relation to all senior managers employed by the CCG 
are permanent in nature and subject to between three and six months’ notice of 
termination by either party. 

Termination payments are limited to those laid down in statute and those provided 
for within NHS terms and conditions of service and under the NHS Pension Scheme 
Regulations for those who are members of the scheme. No awards have been made 
during the year to past senior managers. 
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For the purpose of this remuneration report, the definition of ‘senior managers’ is as 
per the CCG Annual Reporting Guidance published by NHS England: 

Those persons in senior positions having authority or responsibility for 
directing or controlling the major activities of the clinical commissioning group.  

This means those who influence the decisions of the entity as a whole rather than 
the decisions of individual directorates or departments. 

It is considered that the Governing Body and Executive Committee members 
represent the senior managers of the CCG. 

Remuneration of Very Senior Managers (VSM) 
Where one or more senior managers of a CCG are paid more than a pro rata of 
£142,500 per annum, equivalent to the Prime Minister’s salary, information is 
disclosed in the remuneration report. South Tyneside CCG has four very senior 
managers that are paid more than a pro rata of £142,500 per annum. 

VSM Salaries were set at the establishment of the CCG in line with nationally 
mandated pay scales.  The Remuneration Committee reviews the level of pay award 
applied to VSM on an annual basis and has determined that VSM pay award should 
not be inconsistent with that applied to non VSM staff, i.e. the nationally determined 
pay award for staff on ‘agenda for change’ pay scales is applied to VSM. 
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Senior manager remuneration (including salary and pension entitlements) 
Table 1: South Tyneside CCG remuneration report 2016/17 (this has been subjected to audit) 

Name  Title Salary 

Expense 
payments 

(taxable) to 
nearest 

£100 

Performance 
pay and 
bonuses 

Long-term 
performance 

pay and 
bonuses 

All 
pension 
related 

benefits 
TOTAL 

    
(bands 

of 
£5,000) 

  (bands of 
£5,000) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

(bands 
of 

£5,000) 
    £000 £00 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Dr Matthew Walmsley GP Chair 40-45 - - - 12.5-15 55-60 
Stephen Clark Deputy Chair/Lay Member 10-15 - - - - 10-15 
Jeff Gosling Lay Member 5-10 - - - - 5-10 
Paul Morgan Lay Member 10-15 - - - - 10-15 
Dr Tarquin Cross Secondary Care Clinician 5-10 - - - - 5-10 
Dr Sreeni Vis-Nathan GP Member 5-10 - - - - 5-10 
Dr David Hambleton Chief Executive 120-125 79 - - 30-32.5 150-155 
Christine Briggs Director of Operations 100-105 - - - 47.5-50 150-155 
Kate Hudson Chief Finance Officer 100-105 - - - 32.5-35 135-140 
Jeanette Scott Thomas  Director of Nursing, Quality & Safety 30-35 - - - - 30-35 

Ann Fox Director of Nursing, Quality & Safety 20-25 - - - - 20-25 

Dr Jonathan Tose 
GP Clinical Director, Planned Care, 
Contracting and Quality in Primary Care 65-70 - - - 15-17.5 80-85 

Dr James Gordon 
Clinical Director (Mental Health & 
Learning Disability) 45-50 - - - - 45-50 

Dr Mathew Beattie Clinical Director (Urgent Care) 45-50 - - - 107.5-110 155-160 
Ros Whitehead Practice Manager Lead 10-15 - - - - 10-15 
  

Expenses payments (taxable) are shown in £00 and relate to a lease car. 
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Mrs Ann Fox left her role on 31st August 2016. She is employed by NHS Sunderland CCG but also worked for NHS South 
Tyneside CCG as part of a 60/40 staff sharing arrangement. The salary disclosed above shows the CCG’s share of remuneration 
of 40%. 
 
Their banded total remuneration in the financial year 2016/17 was £115,000 to £120,000. Pension related benefit information is 
reported in full by NHS Sunderland CCG. 

 Dr Tarquin Cross is employed by Northumbria Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust. Pension related benefits information is not 
reported by 
Northumbria Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust because Dr Cross is not a senior manager of that organisation. 
 
Jeanette Scott Thomas commenced her post in August 2016. 
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Table 2: South Tyneside CCG remuneration report 2015/16 (this has been subjected to audit) 

Name  Title Salary 

Expense 
payments 
(taxable) 

to nearest 
£100 

Performance 
pay and 
bonuses 

Long-term 
performance 

pay and 
bonuses 

All 
pension 
related 

benefits 
TOTAL 

    
(bands 

of 
£5,000) 

  (bands of 
£5,000) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

(bands 
of 

£2,500) 

(bands 
of 

£5,000) 
    £000 £00 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Dr Matthew Walmsley GP Chair 40-45 - - - 10-12.5 50-55 
Stephen Clark Deputy Chair/Lay Member 10-15 - - - - 10-15 
Jeff Gosling Lay Member 5-10 - - - - 5-10 
Paul Morgan Lay Member 10-15 - - - - 10-15 
Dr Tarquin Cross Secondary Care Clinician 5-10 - - - - 5-10 
Dr Sreeni Vis-Nathan GP Member 5-10 - - - - 5-10 
Dr David Hambleton 
 Chief Executive 120-125 125 - - 5-7.5 135-140 

Christine Briggs Director of Operations 100-105 - - - 27.5-30 125-130 

Kate Hudson Chief Finance Officer 100-105 - - - 15-17.5 115-120 

Ann Fox 
Director of Nursing, Quality & 
Safety 35-40 25 - - 5-7.5 45-50 

Dr Jonathan Tose 

GP Clinical Director, Planned 
Care, Contracting and Quality in 
Primary Care 60-65 - - - 15-17.5 80-85 

Dr James Gordon 
Clinical Director (Mental Health 
& Learning Disability) 45-50 - - - 10-12.5 55-60 

Dr Mathew Beattie Clinical Director  35-40 - - - 90-92.5 125-130 

Dr Funmi Nixon 
Clinical Director (Long Term 
Condition) 10-15 - - - 5-7.5 20-25 

Ros Whitehead Practice Manager Lead 10-15 - - - - 10-15 
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Expenses payments (taxable) are shown in £00 and relate to a lease car. 

Mrs Ann Fox is employed by NHS Sunderland CCG but also works for NHS South Tyneside CCG as part of a 60/40 staff sharing 
arrangement. The salary disclosed above shows the CCG’s share of remuneration of 40%.  

Their banded total remuneration in the financial year 2015/16 was £95,000 to £100,000. Pension related benefit information is 
reported in full by NHS Sunderland CCG. 

Dr Tarquin Cross is employed by Northumbria Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust. Pension related benefits information is not 
reported by Northumbria Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust because Dr Cross is not a senior manager of that organisation. 

Dr Mathew Beattie commenced employment on 1st July 2015. 

Dr Funmi Nixon left on 10th July 2015.
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Pension benefits as at 31 March 2017  
Table 3: South Tyneside CCG senior officers pension benefits 2016/17 (this has been subjected to audit) 

 

Real increase 
in pension at 
pension age 

Real increase 
in pension 

lump sum at 
pension age 

Total accrued 
pension at 

pension age 
at 31 March 

2017 

Lump sum at 
pension age 

related to 
accrued 

pension at 31 
March 2017 

Cash 
Equivalent 

Transfer Value 
at 1 April 2016 

Real 
Increase in 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 

Value  

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 

Value at 31 
March 2017 

Employer's 
contribution 

to 
stakeholder 

pension 

 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

(bands of 
£5,000)         

 
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Dr Matthew Walmsley 0-2.5 0-2.5 10-15 5-10 49 12 61 6 
Stephen Clark - - - - - - - - 
Jeff Gosling - - - - - - - - 
Paul Morgan - - - - - - - - 
Dr Tarquin Cross - - - - - - - - 
Dr Sreeni Vis-Nathan - - - - - - - - 
Dr David Hambleton 0-2.5 5-7.5 60-65 130-135 772 63 835 17 
Christine Briggs 2.5-5 2.5-5 45-50 90-95 458 47 505 14 
Kate Hudson 0-2.5 0-2.5 30-35 70-75 363 35 398 14 
Ann Fox - - - - - - - - 
Dr Jonathan Tose 0-2.5 0-2.5 25-30 30-35 174 26 201 9 
Dr James Gordon - - - - - - - - 
Dr Mathew Beattie 5-7.5 12.5-15 85-90 65-70 291 85 377 7 
Ros Whitehead - - - - - - - - 
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Table 4: South Tyneside CCG senior officers pension benefits 2015/16 (this has been subjected to audit) 

 

Real increase 
in pension at 
pension age 

Real increase 
in pension 

lump sum at 
pension age 

Total accrued 
pension at 

pension age 
at 31 March 

2016 

Lump sum at 
pension age 

related to 
accrued 

pension at 31 
March 2016  

Cash 
Equivalent 

Transfer Value 
at 1 April 2015 

Real 
Increase in 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 

Value  

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 

Value at 31 
March 2016 

Employer's 
contribution 

to 
stakeholder 

pension 

 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

(bands of 
£5,000)         

 
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Dr Matthew Walmsley 0-2.5 - 0-5 5-10 43 6 49 6 
Stephen Clark - - - - - - - - 
Jeff Gosling - - - - - - - - 
Paul Morgan - - - - - - - - 
Dr Tarquin Cross - - - - - - - - 
Dr Sreeni Vis-Nathan - - - - - - - - 
Dr David Hambleton 0-2.5 2.5-5 40-45 120-125 749 24 772 17 
Christine Briggs 0-2.5 0-2.5 30-35 85-90 435 23 458 13 
Kate Hudson 0-2.5 - 25-30 65-70 348 15 363 14 
Ann Fox 0-2.5 2.5-5 35-40 110-115 623 235 858 14 
Dr Jonathan Tose 0-2.5 0-2.5 10-15 30-35 161 13 174 9 
Dr James Gordon 0-2.5 - 10-15 30-35 133 6 140 6 
Dr Mathew Beattie 2.5-5 7.5-10 0-5 10-15 - 55 74 5 
Dr Funmi Nixon 0-2.5 0-2.5 5-10 25-30 147 2 152 2 
Ros Whitehead - - - - - - - - 
 

69 
 



Cash equivalent transfer values  
A cash equivalent transfer value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of 
the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The 
benefits valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s (or 
other allowable beneficiary’s) pension payable from the scheme. 

A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension 
benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a 
scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme. The 
pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a 
consequence of their total membership of the pension scheme, not just their service 
in a senior capacity to which disclosure applies. 

The CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of any pension 
benefits in another scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to 
the NHS pension scheme. They also include any additional pension benefit accrued 
to the member as a result of their purchasing additional years of pension service in 
the scheme at their own cost. CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and 
framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.  

Real increase in CETV 
This reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer. It takes 
account of the increase in accrued pension due to inflation, contributions paid by the 
employee (including the value of any benefits transferred from another scheme or 
arrangement) and uses common market valuation factors for the start and end of the 
period. 

Compensation on early retirement or for loss of office (this has been subject to 
audit) 
There was no compensation on early retirement or for loss of office during 2016/17. 

Payments to past members (this has been subject to audit) 
There were no payments to past members during 2016/17. 

Fair Pay Disclosure (this has been subject to audit) 

Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration 
of the highest paid member in their organisation and the median remuneration of the 
organisation’s workforce. 

The banded remuneration of the highest paid director in South Tyneside CCG in the 
financial year 2016/17 was £130-135k (2015/16: £130-135k).  This was 1.9 times 
(2015/16: 3.0) the median remuneration of the workforce, which was £70,200 
(2015/16: £44,261).  

In 2016/17, no employees (2015/16, no employees) received remuneration in excess 
of the highest paid director. Remuneration ranged from £21,692 to £106,999 
(2015/2016: £6,453 to £103,512). 
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Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay, 
benefits-in-kind, but not severance payments.  It does not include employer pension 
contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions. 

The increase in year-on-year median remuneration of the workforce relates to the 
inclusion of clinical leads in the fair pay calculations in 2016/17.  

Table 5: Fair pay disclosure (the has been subject to 
audit) 

  
 

2016/17 2015/16 
Band of Highest Paid Director's Total Remuneration (£'000)  130-135 130-135 
Median Total Remuneration (£)  70,200 44,261 
Ratio  1.9 3.0 
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Staff Report  

Number of senior managers 
The CCG had 14 senior managers in post at 31st March 2017. This includes 2 very 
senior managers. 

Staff numbers and costs (this has been subject to audit) 
Staff numbers and costs are analysed by permanent employees and ‘other.’  

Permanently employed refers to members of staff with a permanent (UK) 
employment contract directly with the CCG.  
Other refers to any staff engaged that do not have a permanent (UK) employment 
contract with the CCG. This includes employees on short term contracts of 
employment and agency/temporary staff. 
 
The figures exclude lay members of the Governing Body. 

 

Permanent 
Employees Other Total 

Average number of people employed   20 0 20 

    

 

Permanent 
Employees Other Total 

Staff costs £'000 £'000 £'000 
Salaries and wages 1,191 35 1,225 
Social security costs 139 0 139 
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension 
scheme 146 0 146 
Staff costs 1,476 35 1,510 

 

Staff composition 
The CCG staff gender profile at 31st March 2017 is based upon permanently 
employed as follows: 

   Female Male Total 
Very senior 
managers 1 1 2 
Other staff 19 12 31 
Total staff 20 13 33 

 

Staff Sickness Absence 
The CCG report staff sickness absence data in the financial statements. A table is 
included in the employee benefits note to the financial statements and shown in note 
4.3 of the accounts.  

Staff policies 
The CCG has policies in place relating to staff available on the CCG intranet and 
website. The policies support and assist all employees with guidance and policy 
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information relating to wide range of Human Resources functions. The promotion of 
equality and diversity is actively pursued through these policies and ensures that 
employees receive fair, equitable and consistent treatment and ensure that 
employees, and potential employees, are not subject to direct or indirect 
discrimination. 

The CCG is committed to equality of opportunity for all employees and is committed 
to employment practices, policies and procedures which ensure that no employee, or 
potential employee, receives less favourable treatment on the grounds of gender, 
race, colour, ethnic or national origin, sexual orientation, marital status, religion or 
belief, age, trade union membership, disability, offending background, domestic 
circumstances, social and employment status, HIV status, gender reassignment, 
political affiliation or any other personal characteristic.  

Diversity is viewed positively and, in recognising that everyone is different, the 
unique contribution that each individual’s experience, knowledge and skills can make 
is valued equally.  

Expenditure on consultancy 
Consultancy expenditure of £30k was incurred in 2016/17 (2015/16, £20k). 
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Off-payroll engagements  

Table 1: Off-payroll engagements longer than 6 months 

For all off-payroll engagements as at 31 March 2017, for more than £220 per day 
and that last longer than six months:  

  Number 
Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2017 7 

Of which, the number that have existed:  

for less than one year at the time of reporting 0 

for between one and two years at the time of reporting 3 

for between 2 and 3 years at the time of reporting 0 

for between 3 and 4 years at the time of reporting 4 

for 4 or more years at the time of reporting 0 

All existing off payroll engagements have at some point been subject to a risk based 
assessment as to whether assurance is required that the individual is paying the 
right amount of tax and, where necessary, that assurance has been sought.   

The above numbers include clinical leads who are contracted to work a few hours 
per month on agreed workstreams and projects.  These have been pro-rated up and 
hence fall into this disclosure.  

Table 2: New off-payroll engagements  

For all new off-payroll engagements between 01 April 2016 and 31 March 2017, for 
more than £220 per day and that last longer than six months: 

  Number 
Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months in 
duration, between 1 April 2016 and 31 March 2017 0 

Number of new engagements which include contractual clauses 
giving NHS South Tyneside CCG the right to request assurance in 
relation to income tax and National Insurance obligations 

0 

Number for whom assurance has been requested 0 

Of which:  

assurance has been received 0 

assurance has not been received 0 
engagements terminated as a result of assurance not being 
received.  0 

Table 3: Off-payroll engagements / senior official engagements 
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For any off-payroll engagements of Board members and senior officials with 
significant financial responsibility, between 01 April 2016 and 31 March 2017.  

Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or 
senior officers with significant financial responsibility, during 
the financial year 

0 

Total no. of individuals on payroll and off-payroll that have 
been deemed “board members, and/or, senior officials with 
significant financial responsibility”, during the financial year. 
This figure should include both on payroll and off-payroll 
engagements. 

15 
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Exit packages, including special (non-contractual) payments (this has been 
subject to audit) 
 
No exit packages including special (non-contractual) payments were made in 
2016/17.  
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Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report 
NHS South Tyneside CCG is not required to produce a Parliamentary Accountability 
and Audit Report.  

There are no disclosures on remote contingent liabilities, losses and special 
payments, gifts, and fees and charges.  

An audit certificate and report is included in this Annual Report at page 58. 

 
 
Dr David Hambleton 
Accountable Officer (Chief Executive) 
25th May 2017 
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NHS South Tyneside Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2016-17

Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended
31 March 2017

2016-17 2015-16
Note £'000 £'000

Revenue from sale of goods and services 2 (581) (581)
Other operating revenue 2 (14) (16)
Total operating revenue (595) (597)

Staff costs 4 1,510 1,291
Purchase of goods and services 5 245,364 241,829
Other Operating Expenditure 5 110 108
Total operating expenditure 246,984 243,227

Comprehensive Expenditure for the year ended 31 March 2017 246,389 242,630
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NHS South Tyneside Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2016-17

Statement of Financial Position as at
31 March 2017

2016-17 2015-16

Note £'000 £'000
Non-current assets:
Total non-current assets 8 0 0

Current assets:
Trade and other receivables 9 1,027 987
Cash and cash equivalents 10 202 181
Total current assets 1,229 1,168

Total assets 1,229 1,168

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 11 (14,423) (13,784)
Total current liabilities (14,423) (13,784)

Non-Current Assets plus/less Net Current Assets/Liabilities (13,194) (12,616)

Assets less Liabilities (13,194) (12,616)

Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity
General fund (13,194) (12,616)
Total taxpayers' equity: (13,194) (12,616)

The notes on pages 5 to 18 form part of this statement

The financial statements on pages 1 to 4 were approved by the Governing Body on 25th May 2017 and signed on its behalf by:

(Chief Executive) Accountable Officer
Dr. David Hambleton
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Statement of Changes In Taxpayers' Equity for the year ended
31 March 2017

General fund
Total 

reserves
£'000 £'000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2016-17

Balance at 01 April 2016 (12,616) (12,616)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2016-17
Net operating expenditure for the financial year (246,389) (246,389)

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial  Year (259,005) (259,005)

Net funding 245,811 245,811

Balance at 31 March 2017 (13,194) (13,194)

General fund
Total 

reserves
£'000 £'000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2015-16

Balance at 01 April 2015 (12,646) (12,646)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2015-16
Net operating costs for the financial year (242,630) (242,630)

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial  Year (255,276) (255,276)
Net funding 242,660 242,660

Balance at 31 March 2016 (12,616) (12,616)

The notes on pages 5 to 18 form part of this statement
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NHS South Tyneside Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2016-17

Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended
31 March 2017

2016-17 2015-16
Note £'000 £'000

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net operating expenditure for the financial year (246,389) (242,630)
Other Gains & Losses (2) 0
(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables 9 (40) 29
Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables 11 639 (109)
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Operating Activities (245,792) (242,710)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Proceeds from disposal of assets held for sale: property, plant and equipment 2 0
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Investing Activities 2 0

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) before Financing (245,790) (242,710)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Grant in Aid Funding Received 245,811 242,660
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Financing Activities 245,811 242,660

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents 10 21 (50)

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year 181 231

Cash & Cash Equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at the End of the Financial Year 202 181

The notes on pages 5 to 18 form part of this statement
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Notes to the financial statements

1 Accounting Policies
NHS England has directed that the financial statements of clinical commissioning groups shall meet the accounting requirements of the Group 
Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health. Consequently, the following financial statements have been prepared in accordance 
with the  Group Accounting Manual 2016-17 issued by the Department of Health. The accounting policies contained in the Group Accounting 
Manual follow International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to clinical commissioning 
groups, as determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board.  Where the Group Accounting Manual 
permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the particular circumstances of the clinical 
commissioning group for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular policies adopted by the clinical 
commissioning group are described below. They have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the 
accounts.

1.1 Going Concern
These accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis.
Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as 
evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents.
Where a clinical commissioning group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be provided (using the same 
assets, by another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set of Financial Statements.  If 
services will continue to be provided the financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis.

1.2 Accounting Convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of property, plant and 
equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.

1.3 Pooled Budgets
The Clinical Commissioning Group has a pooled budget arrangement with South Tyneside Council for the Better Care Fund, which the Council 
hosts. The Clinical Commissioning Group accounts for its share of the income and expenditure of the pool as determined by the pooled budget 
agreement.

1.4 Critical Accounting Judgements & Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
In the application of the clinical commissioning group’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated 
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those 
estimates and the estimates and underlying assumptions are continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the 
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision 
affects both current and future periods.

1.4.1 Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies
There are no critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below) that management has made in the process of applying the 
clinical commissioning group’s accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.

1.4.2 Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
The following are the key estimations that management has made in the process of applying the clinical commissioning group’s accounting 
policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:
Prescribing expenditure has been estimated based on ten months actual spend and two months forecast.

1.5 Revenue
Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs, and is measured at the fair value of the 
consideration receivable.
Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following year, that income is deferred.

1.6 Employee Benefits
1.6.1 Short-term Employee Benefits

Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is received from employees, including 
bonuses earned but not yet taken.
The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial statements to the extent that 
employees are permitted to carry forward leave into the following period : £17,093 in 2016/17 (£14,291 in 2015/16).

1.6.2 Retirement Benefit Costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme 
that covers NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. 
The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and 
liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the clinical commissioning group of 
participating in the scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full amount of the 
liability for the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the clinical commissioning group commits itself to the retirement, regardless 
of the method of payment.
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Notes to the financial statements

1.7 Other Expenses
Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received. They are measured at the fair 
value of the consideration payable.
Expenses and liabilities in respect of grants are recognised when the clinical commissioning group has a present legal or constructive obligation, 
which occurs when all of the conditions attached to the payment have been met.

1.8 Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the lessee. All other leases 
are classified as operating leases.

1.8.1 The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessee
Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are initially recognised, at the inception of the lease, at fair value or, if lower, at the 
present value of the minimum lease payments, with a matching liability for the lease obligation to the lessor. Lease payments are apportioned 
between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate on interest on the remaining balance of the 
liability. Finance charges are recognised in calculating the clinical commissioning group’s surplus/deficit.
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives are recognised initially as 
a liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Details of leases held by the Clinical Commissioning Group can be found in the Operating Lease note (Note 7).
Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated and individually assessed as to whether they are 
operating or finance leases.

1.9 Cash & Cash Equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents 
are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with 
insignificant risk of change in value.
In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and that form an 
integral part of the clinical commissioning group’s cash management.

1.10 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the clinical commissioning group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is 
probable that the clinical commissioning group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of the 
reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the 
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows using HM Treasury’s discount rate as follows:
·                Timing of cash flows (0 to 5 years inclusive): Minus 2.70% (previously: minus 1.55%)
·                Timing of cash flows (6 to 10 years inclusive): Minus 1.95% (previously: minus 1.00%)
·                Timing of cash flows (over 10 years): Minus 0.80% (previously: minus 0.80%)

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, the receivable is 
recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursements will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

A restructuring provision is recognised when the clinical commissioning group has developed a detailed formal plan for the restructuring and has 
raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement the plan or announcing its main features 
to those affected by it. The measurement of a restructuring provision includes only the direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, which 
are those amounts that are both necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not associated with on-going activities of the entity.

1.11 Clinical Negligence Costs

The NHS Litigation Authority operates a risk pooling scheme under which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual contribution to the 
NHS Litigation Authority which in return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to expenditure. Although the NHS 
Litigation Authority is administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases the legal liability remains with the clinical commissioning group.

1.12 Non-clinical Risk Pooling
The clinical commissioning group participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk 
pooling schemes under which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority and, in return, 
receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any excesses payable in respect of particular 
claims are charged to operating expenses as and when they become due.

1.13 Continuing healthcare risk pooling
In 2014-15 a risk pool scheme was introduced by NHS England for continuing healthcare claims, for claim periods prior to 31 March 2013.  
Under the scheme clinical commissioning group contribute annually to a pooled fund, which is used to settle the claims. The clinical 
commissioning group's contribution in 2016/17 was £377,000 (2015/16 £943,000).
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1.14 Financial Assets
Financial assets are recognised when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the financial instrument contract or, in the case of trade 
receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights have expired or the 
asset has been transferred.
Financial assets are classified into the following categories:
·                Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss;
·                Held to maturity investments;
·                Available for sale financial assets; and,
·                Loans and receivables.
The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.

1.15 Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the contractual 
provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have been received. Financial liabilities are 
derecognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the liability has been paid or has expired.
Financial Liabilities are classified into the following categories:
·                Financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss;
·               Other.

1.16 Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the clinical commissioning group are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input tax on 
purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of 
fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.

1.17 Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted
The Government Financial Reporting Manual does not require the following Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2016-17, all of which 
are subject to consultation:
·                IFRS 9: Financial Instruments ( application from 1 January 2018)
·                IFRS 14: Regulatory Deferral Accounts ( not applicable to DH group bodies)
·                IFRS 15: Revenue for Contract with Customers (application from 1 January 2018)
·                IFRS 16: Leases (application from 1 January 2019)

The application of the Standards as revised would not have a material impact on the accounts for 2016-17, were they applied in that year.
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2 Other Operating Revenue
2016-17 2016-17 2016-17 2015-16

Total Admin Programme Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Education, training and research 16 16 0 1
Charitable and other contributions  to revenue expenditure: non-NHS 0 0 0 10
Non-patient care services to other bodies 565 31 534 580
Other revenue 14 14 0 6
Total other operating revenue 595 61 534 597

Administration revenue is revenue received that is not directly attributable to the provision of healthcare or healthcare services.

£
Children and Young People's IAPT Programme 78,250
Veteran's Wellbeing and Liaison Service 150,000

3 Revenue

Revenue is totally from the supply of services. The Clinical Commissioning Group receives no revenue from the sale of goods.

`

Revenue in this note does not include cash received from NHS England, which is drawn down directly into the bank account of the Clinical 
Commissioning Group and credited to the General Fund, with the exception of : 
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4. Employee benefits and staff numbers

4.1 Employee benefits 2016-17

Total
Permanent 
Employees Other

£'000 £'000 £'000
Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages 1,225 1,190 35
Social security costs 139 139 0
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 146 146 0
Gross employee benefits expenditure 1,510 1,475 35

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits 0 0 0
Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs 1,510 1,475 35

Less: Employee costs capitalised 0 0 0
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs 1,510 1,475 35

4.1 Employee benefits 2015-16

Total
Permanent 
Employees Other

£'000 £'000 £'000
Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages 1,057 1,057 0
Social security costs 103 103 0
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 130 130 0
Gross employee benefits expenditure 1,291 1,291 0

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits 0 0 0 `
Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs 1,291 1,291 0

Less: Employee costs capitalised 0 0 0
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs 1,291 1,291 0

4.2 Average number of people employed
2015-16

Total
Permanently 

employed Other Total
Number Number Number Number

Total 20 20 0 18

Of the above:
Number of whole time equivalent people engaged on capital 
projects 0 0 0 0

4.3  Staff sickness absence and ill health retirements
2016-17 2015-16
Number Number

Total Days Lost 66 39
Total Staff Years 22 21
Average working Days Lost 3 2

2016-17

Total

Total

The Director of Nursing and Quality for the Clinical Commissioning Group (for the period April to August) was employed by 
NHS Sunderland Clinical Commissioning Group with 0.4 WTE being recharged and included in the numbers in the table 
above.

The Personal Assistant to the Director of Nursing and Quality for the Clinical Commissioning Group (for the period April to 
August) was employed by NHS Sunderland Clinical Commissioning Group with 0.25 WTE being recharged and included in 
the numbers in the table above.

The Designated Nurse for Looked After Children is employed by NHS Sunderland Clinical Commissioning Group with 0.2 
WTE being recharged and included in the numbers in the table above.
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4.4 Pension costs

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pension Scheme. Details of the benefits payable under these 
provisions can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/Pensions.

The Scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the 
direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The Scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies 
to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities.

Therefore, the Scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the clinical commissioning group of 
participating in the Scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the Scheme for the accounting period.

The Scheme is subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years (until 2004, every five years) and an accounting valuation every year. 
An outline of these follows:

4.4.1 Full actuarial (funding) valuation

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the Scheme (taking into account its 
recent demographic experience), and to recommend the contribution rates to be paid by employers and scheme members. The last such 
valuation, which determined current contribution rates was undertaken as at 31 March 2012 and covered the period from 1 April 2008 to 
that date. Details can be found on the pension scheme website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/Pensions. 

For 2016-17, employer's contributions of £146,243 were payable to the NHS Pensions Scheme (2015-16: £130,349) at the rate of 14.3%
of pensionable pay. The scheme’s actuary reviews employer contributions, usually every four years and now based on HMT Valuation
Directions, following a full scheme valuation. The latest review used data from 31 March 2012 and was published on the Government
website on 9 June 2012. These costs are included in the NHS pension line of note 4.1. 
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5. Operating expenses
2016-17 2016-17 2016-17 2015-16

Total Admin Programme Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Gross employee benefits
Employee benefits excluding governing body members 1,031 762 269 831
Executive governing body members 479 479 0 460
Total gross employee benefits 1,510 1,241 269 1,291

Other costs
Services from other CCGs and NHS England 1,951 1,269 682 2,047
Services from foundation trusts 177,987 30 177,957 172,720
Services from other NHS trusts 241 0 241 177
Services from other WGA bodies 0 0 0 200
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies 33,778 0 33,778 34,348
Chair and Non Executive Members 105 105 0 102
Supplies and services – general 97 97 0 39
Consultancy services 30 30 0 20
Establishment 166 43 123 116
Transport 3 3 0 6
Premises 822 122 700 1,221
Audit fees 54 54 0 54
Other non statutory audit expenditure
·          Internal audit services 0 0 0 0
·          Other services 0 0 0 0
Prescribing costs 29,143 0 29,143 29,322
Pharmaceutical services 167 0 167 206
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS 284 0 284 271
Other professional fees excl. audit 254 71 183 129
Clinical negligence 5 5 0 5
Education and training 10 10 0 11
CHC Risk Pool contributions 377 0 377 943
Total other costs 245,474 1,839 243,635 241,937

Total operating expenses 246,984 3,080 243,904 243,228

Administration expenditure is expenditure incurred that is not a direct payment for the provision of healthcare or healthcare services.

The external auditor of the Clinical Commissioning Group is Mazars LLP. The audit fee for 2016/17 was £54,000. 
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6.1 Better Payment Practice Code

Measure of compliance 2016-17 2016-17 2015-16 2015-16
Number £'000 Number £'000

Non-NHS Payables
Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year 4,852 35,362 5,142 37,955
Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target 4,723 35,053 5,015 37,333
Percentage of Non-NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target 97.34% 99.13% 97.53% 98.36%

NHS Payables
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year 1,675 181,873 1,473 175,289
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target 1,661 181,627 1,442 174,701
Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target 99.16% 99.86% 97.90% 99.66%

7. Operating Leases

7.1 As lessee

7.1.1 Payments recognised as an Expense 2016-17 2015-16
Land Buildings Other Total Land Buildings Other Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Payments recognised as an expense
Minimum lease payments 0 800 10 810 0 1,206 10 1,216
Contingent rents 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sub-lease payments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total 0 800 10 810 0 1,206 10 1,216

7.1.2 Future minimum lease payments 2016-17 2015-16
Land Buildings Other Total Land Buildings Other Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Payable:
No later than one year 0 0 9 9 0 0 3 3
Between one and five years 0 0 15 15 0 0 4 4
After five years 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total 0 0 24 24 0 0 7 7

Whilst our arrangements with Community Health Partnership and NHS Property Services Limited fall within the definition of operating leases, rental charge for future years has not yet been agreed . Consequently, this 
note does not include future minimum lease payments for these arrangements.

The significant operating leases represented in the figure below are in relation to NHS Property Services and Community Health Partnership. In addition to the lease for the Clinical Commissioning Group headquarters, 
this figure also includes leases for properties which the Clinical Commissioning Group are deemed to be responsible for but do not occupy.
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8 Property, plant and equipment

2016-17
Transport 
equipment Total 

£'000 £'000
Cost or valuation at 01 April 2016 3 3

Disposals other than by sale (3) (3)
Cost/Valuation at 31 March 2017 0 0

Depreciation at 01 April 2016 3 3

Disposals other than by sale (3) (3)
Depreciation at 31 March 2017 0 0

Net Book Value at 31 March 2017 0 0

Total at 31 March 2017 0 0

9  Trade and other receivables Current Current
2016-17 2015-16

£'000 £'000

NHS receivables: Revenue 383 107
NHS prepayments 563 607
Non-NHS and Other WGA receivables: Revenue 64 229
Non-NHS and Other WGA prepayments 11 44
Non-NHS and Other WGA accrued income 4 0
VAT 2 1
Total Trade & other receivables 1,027 987

Total current 1,027 987

9.1 Receivables past their due date but not impaired 2016-17 2015-16
£'000 £'000

By up to three months 150 161
By three to six months 1 0
By more than six months 1 0
Total 152 161

£150,000 of the amount above has subsequently been recovered post the statement of financial position date.

The Clinical Commissioning Group did not hold any collateral against receivables outstanding at 31st March 2017.

9.2  Provision for impairment of receivables

The Clinical Commissioning Group did not make any provision for impairment of receivables during 2016/17.

The Clinical Commissioning Group has no non-current receivables as at 31st March 2017.

The majority of trade is with NHS England. As NHS England is funded by Government to provide funding to 
Clinical Commissioning Groups to commission services, no credit scoring of them is considered necessary.
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10 Cash and cash equivalents

2016-17 2015-16
£'000 £'000

Balance at 01 April 181 231
Net change in year 21 (50)
Balance at 31 March 202 181

Made up of:
Cash with the Government Banking Service 202 181
Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position 202 181

Balance at 31 March 202 181

Current Current
2016-17 2015-16

£'000 £'000

NHS payables: revenue 2,018 2,757
NHS accruals 997 1,603
Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Revenue 1,400 468
Non-NHS and Other WGA accruals 9,930 8,874
Social security costs 20 15
Tax 22 19
Other payables and accruals 36 48
Total Trade & Other Payables 14,423 13,784

Total current 14,423 13,784

12   Provisions

The Clinical Commissioning Group had no provisions as at 31st March 2017.

11 Trade and other payables

Other payables include £24,646 outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2017.

Under the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England on 12 February 2014, NHS England is responsible for 
accounting for liabilities relating to NHS Continuing Healthcare claims relating to periods of care before 
establishment of the Clinical Commissioning Group. However, the legal liability remains with the Clinical 
Commissioning Group. The total value of legacy NHS Continuing Healthcare provisions accounted for by NHS 
England on behalf of this Clinical Commissioning Group at 31st March 2017 is £2,268,000 (March 2016 
£2,087,000).
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13 Financial instruments

13.1 Financial risk management

13.1.1 Currency risk

13.1.2 Interest rate risk

13.1.3 Credit risk

13.1.4 Liquidity risk

NHS South Tyneside Clinical Commissioning Group borrows from government for capital expenditure, subject to affordability as confirmed 
by NHS England. The borrowings are for 1 to 25 years, in line with the life of the associated assets, and interest is charged at the National 
Loans Fund rate, fixed for the life of the loan. The clinical commissioning group therefore has low exposure to interest rate fluctuations.

Because the majority of NHS South Tyneside Clinical Commissioning Group's revenue comes from parliamentary funding, the clinical 
commissioning group has low exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposure as at the end of the financial year are in receivables from 
customers, as disclosed in the trade and other receivables note.

NHS South Tyneside Clinical Commissioning Group is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which are financed 
from resources voted annually by Parliament. The clinical commissioning group draws down cash to cover expenditure, as the need arises. 
The clinical commissioning group is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.

Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the period in creating or 
changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities.

Because NHS South Tyneside Clinical Commissioning Group is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of 
financial risk faced by business entities. Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be 
typical of listed companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The clinical commissioning group has limited powers to 
borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to 
change the risks facing the clinical commissioning group in undertaking its activities.

Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined formally within the clinical 
commissioning group standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury activity is subject to review by the 
clinical commissioning group and internal auditors.

NHS South Tyneside Clinical Commissioning Group is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and 
liabilities being in the UK and sterling based. The clinical commissioning group has no overseas operations. The clinical commissioning 
group therefore has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations.



16

NHS South Tyneside Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2016-17

13 Financial instruments cont'd

13.2 Financial assets

Loans and 
Receivables

Loans and 
Receivables

2016-17 2015-16
£'000 £'000

Receivables:
·          NHS 383 107
·          Non-NHS 68 229
Cash at bank and in hand 202 181
Total at 31 March 653 517

13.3 Financial liabilities

Other Other
2016-17 2015-16

£'000 £'000

Payables:
·          NHS 3,015 4,360
·          Non-NHS 11,366 9,390
Total at 31 March 14,381 13,750

14 Operating segments

15 Pooled budgets

2016-17 2015-16
£'000 £'000

Income 0 0
Expenditure 11,987 12,592

The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group considers they have only one segment: commissioning of healthcare 
services.

Under s75 of the 2006 NHS Act, the Clinical Commissioning Group has entered into a pooled budget 
agreement with South Tyneside Council in relation to the Better Care Fund. For accounting purposes 
management has assessed that joint control does not exist.

The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group's share of the income and expenditure handled by the pooled budget 
in the financial year were:
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16 Related party transactions

2016/17 2015/16

Governing Body / Executive Committee member Related Party

Payments 
to Related 

Party

Receipts 
from 

Related 
Party

Amounts 
owed to 
Related 
Party

Amounts 
due from 
Related 
Party

 Payments 
to Related 

Party 

 Receipts 
from 

Related 
Party 

 Amounts 
owed to 
Related 
Party 

 Amounts 
due from 
Related 
Party 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Dr Matthew Walmsley Marsden Road Health Centre 124           -              16           -              119            -              7             -              
Dr Tarquin Cross Northumbria Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust 620           -              64           -              573            -              113         -              
Dr David Hambleton NHS North of England CSU 1,851        (27)          102         -              2,105         (11)          23           -              
Dr Funmi Nixon (no longer Executive Committee member in 2016/17) Westoe Surgery -                -              -              -              34              -              -              
Dr Funmi Nixon (no longer Executive Committee member in 2016/17) Gypsydoc Ltd -                -              -              -              31              -              2             -              
Dr Jon Tose Central Surgery 210           -              17           -              136            -              2             -              
Dr James Gordon Imeary Street Surgery 43             -              2             -              28              -              1             -              
Dr James Gordon Gateshead Community Based Care -                -              -              -              221            -              20           -              
Dr Sreeni Vis-Nathan Ravensworth Surgery 49             -              15           -              19              -              -              -              
Ms Ros Whitehead Ellison View Surgery 73             -              4             -              51              -              2             -              
Ms Ros Whitehead South Tyneside Health Collaboration -                -              121         -              -                 -              -              -              
Ms Ann Fox NHS Sunderland Clinical Commissioning Group 45             (559)        42           -              66              (175)        -              -              
Dr Matthew Beattie Central Surgery 210           -              17           -              -                 -              -              -              
Dr Matthew Beattie North East Ambulance NHS Foundation Trust 6,760        -              87           -              -                 -              -              -              

* Dr David Hambleton's wife is employed by NHS North of England Commissioning Support Unit.

All payments are made to the Related Party, not to the individual Governing Body member.

The details of the Member Practices of the Clinical Commissioning Group for 2016/17 are listed below :
2016/17 2015/16

Payments 
to Related 

Party

Receipts 
from 

Related 
Party

Amounts 
owed to 
Related 
Party

Amounts 
due from 
Related 
Party

 Payments 
to Related 

Party 

 Receipts 
from 

Related 
Party 

 Amounts 
owed to 
Related 
Party 

 Amounts 
due from 
Related 
Party 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Albert Road Surgery 33             - 4             -              20              -              -              -              
Central Surgery 210           -              17           -              136            -              2             -              
Chichester Practice 14             -              5             -              18              -              -              -              
Colliery Court Medical Group 72             - 10           -              57              -              -              -              
Dr Dowsett and Overs 75             - 4             -              41              -              -              -              
Dr Haque 29             - 6             -              15              -              -              -              
Dr Kulkarni / West View Surgery 22             -              2             -              4                -              4             -              
Dr Thorniley-Walker and Partners 54             -              9             -              38              -              -              -              
East Wing Surgery 61             - 6             -              68              -              -              -              
Ellison View 73             - 4             -              51              -              2             -              
Farnham Medical Centre 138           - 20           -              153            -              -              -              
Flagg Court (Dr N Win) ( now part of Central Surgery ) 16             - 2             -              18              -              -              -              
Flagg Court (Dr S Chander) (now part of Central Surgery ) 9               -              2             -              16              -              -              -              
Imeary Street Practice 43             - 2             -              28              -              1             -              
Jarrow GP Practice ( ceased to exist during 2016/17) 1               -              -              -              1                -              -              -              
Marsden Road Health Centre 124           -              16           -              119            -              7             -              
Mayfield Medical Group 84             - 12           -              49              -              -              -              
Ravensworth Surgey 49             - 15           -              19              -              -              -              
St George and Riverside 81             - 10           -              28              -              -              -              
Talbot Medical Group 106           - 6             -              67              -              - -              
The Glen Medical Group 147           - 8             -              45              -              -              -              
The Park Surgery 24             -              5             -              18              -              -              -              
Trinity Medical Centre 90             - 10           -              74              -              1             -              
Victoria Medical Centre 43             1             1             -              16              -              -              -              
Wawn Street Surgery 105           - 5             -              52              -              -              -              
Westoe Surgery 32             - 5             -              34              -              - -              
Whitburn Surgery 45             - 8             -              33              -              -              -              

• NHS England ( including North of England Commissioning Support Unit );
• NHS Foundation Trusts, including;

City Hospitals Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust
Gateshead Health NHS Foundation Trust North East Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust
Northumberland, Tyne and Wear NHS Foundation Trust Northumbria Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust
South Tees Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust South Tyneside NHS Foundation Trust
The Newcastle Upon Tyne Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

• NHS Trusts;
• NHS Litigation Authority; and,
• NHS Business Services Authority.

2016/17 2015/16

Payments 
to Related 

Party

Receipts 
from 

Related 
Party

Amounts 
owed to 
Related 
Party

Amounts 
due from 
Related 
Party

 Payments 
to Related 

Party 

 Receipts 
from 

Related 
Party 

 Amounts 
owed to 
Related 
Party 

 Amounts 
due from 
Related 
Party 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

South Tyneside Council 19,929      (512)        3,690      (61)          24,559       (389)        989         (197)        

Details of related party transactions with individuals are as follows:

 In addition, the Clinical Commissioning Group has had a number of material transactions with other Government departments and other central and local government bodies. Most of 

The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year the Clinical Commissioning Group has had a significant number of material transactions with entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent 
Department. For example:
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17 Events after the end of the reporting period

18 Losses and special payments

The Clinical Commissioning Group had no losses or special payments in 2016/17.

19 Financial performance targets

NHS South Tyneside Clinical Commissioning Group have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).
NHS South Tyneside Clinical Commissioning Group performance against those duties was as follows:

2016-17 2016-17 2016-17 2016-17

Duty Target Performance Total
Duty 

Achieved
£'000 £'000 £'000

Expenditure not to exceed income 251,316 246,389 4,927 Yes

Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions 0 0 0 Yes

Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions 251,316 246,389 4,927 Yes

Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in Directions 0 0 0 Yes

Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in Directions 0 0 0 Yes

Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions 3,327 3,019 308 Yes

2015-16 2015-16 2015-16 2015-16

Duty Target Performance Total
Duty 

Achieved
£'000 £'000 £'000

Expenditure not to exceed income 246,067 242,630 3,437 Yes

Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions 0 0 0 Yes

Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions 246,067 242,630 3,437 Yes

Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in Directions 0 0 0 Yes

Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in Directions 0 0 0 Yes

Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions 3,541 2,974 567 Yes

NHS England recently announced details of the Clinical Commissioning Groups approved to take on greater delegated responsibility or to jointly commission GP services from 1st 
April 2017. The new primary care co-commissioning arrangements are part of a series of changes set out in the NHS Five Year Forward View.  

NHS South Tyneside Clinical Commissioning Group has been approved under delegated commissioning arrangements which mean that the CCG will assume full responsibility for 
contractual GP performance management, budget management and the design and implementation of local incentive schemes from 1st April 2017. This amounts to a budget of 
£21,349,000 for 2017/18.

As set out in the 2016/17 NHS Planning Guidance, CCGs were required to hold a 1 percent reserve uncommitted from the start of the year, created by setting aside 
the monies that CCGs were otherwise required to spend non-recurrently. This was intended to be released for investment in Five Year Forward View transformation 
priorities to the extent that evidence emerged of risks not arising or being effectively mitigated through other means.

In the event, the national position across the provider sector has been such that NHS England has been unable to allow CCGs’ 1% non-recurrent monies to be spent.  
Therefore, to comply with this requirement, NHS South Tyneside CCG has released its 1% reserve to the bottom line, resulting in an additional surplus for the year of 
£2.4m. This additional surplus will be carried forward for drawdown in future years. The allocation associated with the release of the 1% is still attributed to the CCG 
and is technically available for future drawdown, however, the level of future allowable drawdown is likely to continue to be constrained by affordability.
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